Kingston upon Thames
Schools Forum
Tuesday
18 June 2019 19.00 – 21.00
King Charles Centre, Surbiton, KT5 9AL

Agenda

1.

Introductions & Apologies

2.

Declarations of Interest

3.

Minutes of last meeting (attached)

4.

Alternative Provision (report attached)

5.

Education Commission report (report attached)

6.

2018/19 Outturn including Deficit Recovery Plan (report and Appendices A, B
and D attached. Appendix C To Follow)

7.

2019/20 Finance Update (report attached)

8.

Scheme for Financing Schools (report and Appendix attached)

9.

Forum Update

10.

Proposed dates of next meetings; venue, King Charles Centre, Surbiton
19.00-21.00




17 September 2019
19 November 2019
14 January 2020

Page 1

Official

Agenda Item 3

ROYAL BOROUGH OF KINGSTON UPON THAMES

KINGSTON SCHOOLS FORUM: THE FUNDING CONSULTATIVE
GROUP
15 Jan 2019
(7:00pm – 8.45pm)
MEMBERS OF THE FORUM
Councillors (2)
Councillor Maria Netley
Councillor Olly Wehring
School Governors (Primary Schools) (4)
Geoffrey Hilliard Maple Infants School
Steve Mole – St Luke’s C of E Primary School (apologies received)
Richard Williamson – Alexandra School
Vacant
Head Teachers (Primary Schools) (4)
Rachel Nye Tolworth Infant and Nursery School
Tracy Coton – Christ Church Primary
Emily Newton – King Athelstan Primary School
Mark Clutterbuck - Coombe Hill Junior
Head or School Governor (Secondary School) (1)
Ash Ali Chessington Community College (apologies received, substituted by
Academies (7)
Debbie Walls Head Teacher, Coombe Secondary Schools (apologies received)
Tom Gibson Head Teacher, The Holy Cross School
Lou Anderson Head Teacher, Castle Hill Primary School (apologies received)
Sean Maher, Richard Challoner School
Mike Gascoigne Head Teacher, Tiffin School
Sophie Cavanagh, Head Teacher Kingston Academy*
Ian Keary, Head Teacher, Tiffin Girls School
Pupil Referral Units (1)
Samantha Axbey Head Teacher Pupil Referral Units
Head or School Governor (Special School) (1)
Julia James, Head Teacher Bedelsford School
Head or School Governor (Nursery School) (1)
Esther White, Surbiton Children’s Centre Nursery
Local Authority 14-19 Partnership (1)
Mike Tweedale Vice Principal (Curriculum & Quality), Kingston College*
Private, Voluntary and Independent Provider (2)
Clare Cozens Acacia Pre-School*
Michelle Akintoye Castle Stars Day Nursery*
* Absent

Page 2

Official

1. Introductions and Apologies
Apologies were received from Lou Anderson, Debbie Walls, Ash Ali (substituted by
Sonia Molnar) and Steve Mole.
2. Declarations of Interest
None
3. Minutes of the Meeting and Matters Arising
The Minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 2018 were AGREED as an
accurate record and signed by the Chair.
4. KINGSTON CAMHS LOCAL TRANSFORMATION PLAN
Forum were presented with an overview of the CAMHS transformation plan, detailing
priorities and actions to deliver service improvements. The Plan was developed
following additional money being allocated in 2015, to secure improvements by
2020. The Plan was refreshed annually and submiited to the DfE on the 31st
October.
It was asked if the expansion of the Single Point of Access had made it easier for
service users to see a specialist. Officers responded that an increased staffing
capacity had created a more effective triage system, leading to more accurate
referrals and signposting. Members also asked if the threshold for accessing the
services had been lowered and were informed that there was not money in the
system for increased capacity in the specialist services for more severe mental
health issues.
There was a ten year plan being put together to look at what funding might be
available in the future. Richmond and Kingston had not been part of an initial wave of
mental health funding support teams in schools, but it was hoped there might be a
second wave for this initiative in late 2019. In order to qualify for funding the CAMHS
service would need to meet local access targets and an investment standard.
Whilst it was noted that there were some gaps in provision for the 17-18 year olds
and an issue with the Youth Justice Data time lag, it was emphasised the plan was a
work in progress. Officers stressed that accountability and transparency was a
priority and members were informed the plan had been examined through the local
authority’s committee system. The plan also linked to the SEND Transformation plan
and complemented the early intervention workstream.
It was noted that the officer lead now had the benefit of the view across both
Kingston and Richmond boroughs and there was learning that could be used from
other areas. A strong local offer for therapeutic and mental health services could
potentially have a positive impact on SEND transformation. Forum members noted
their concerns at the growth of mental health issues amongst young people and
recognised the increased demand for CAHMS.

Page 3

Official

5. 2018/19 FINANCE UPDATE INCLUDING HIGH NEEDS UPDATE
Officers gave an overview of the 2018/19 Finance Update. Members were informed
that the Government had announced some additional funding and Kingston had
received an allocation of an extra £414k. The overspend on the High Needs Block
was £1.1m, but as that figure included £4m of one off funding, the actual funding
shortfall was closer to £5.1m. There were underspends on other blocks which
reduced the net position on current cohort to £646k overspend. The cumulative debt
brought forward from previous years was £10.7m. Demand had continued to
increase but positively in the post 16 figures, average costs were decreasing. The
additional £414k had gone into top ups as attempts were being made to place
children in local or maintained schools instead of independent placements where
appropriate. The increase in special school places was helping to achieve this.
It was RESOLVED that Forum;



NOTED the latest 2018/19 DSG grant settlement from the DfE
NOTED the anticipated position on the 2018/19 DSG fund as at the 30
November 2018.

6. 2019/20 BUDGET
Officers informed members that the Council would be meeting to agree the budget
on the 7 February 2019 and therefore the information in the report had not yet been
formally finalised.
Officers gave an overview of the report, noting the total DSG allocation was £139m.
AfC officers would be submitting the Authority Pro-forma Tool on the 21 January to
the DfE. The total schools block amount would be £102.924m and the APT budget
would be £102.424m after allowing for the Grwoth Fund and Targeted High Needs
Fund. The borough was not yet using the full NFF - the lump sum amount was still
different even after the area cost adjustment. The MFG would help schools to
transition from the formula and could be set at between minus 1.5% or plus 0.5%
and although Schools Forum could make a recommendation on this figure, the final
decision on the level of transition funding / protection was made by the Council.
Members discussed the Growth Fund that was used to fund new classes and which
included a protection for empty places. Members were referred to the additional
information in the supplementary agenda. In October 2016 a schools consultation
had voted to phase out the protection element of the funding over a three year
period. 18/19 was therefore the last year of providing the protection funds and
Schools Forum members were asked to consider if they still wanted to remove the
protection element of the funds.
Officers noted they would check the figures that were contained in the additional
information as some out of context information may have been included. Members
were concerned about the sensitivities of overturning a previous decision made
through consultation. It was noted that the previous decision to phase the protection
element out over 3 years had been made in view of the expectation that the full NFF

Official

Page 4

would be in place by the time the protection fund expired. It was also highlighted that
the previous consultation did not actually include an option to keep the protection
element; schools had only been able to choose between removal and phasing out.
Schools noted that without the protection element there was little incentive for a
school to provide the additional resource of a bulge class. It was noted schools
providing bulge classes provided a benefit to the schools community across the
borough but took on a financial risk across the 7 years in order to do so. There was
an issue in the borough with a lack of school places in areas where there was a
demand. Waiting lists needed to be monitored in order to help assess levels of
demand.
AfC officers agreed to provide further information on the overall costs of classes
throughout the primary and secondary years.
Members were informed that if reinstated, the protection element would come out of
the schools block as part of the Growth Fund. Schools on the MFG would not need
to contribute as they were already receiving protection that topped them up to a
minimum funding guarantee. It was noted that the reasons for empty bulge classes
were not related to mismanagement by schools but were due to families either
moving out to other areas or placing children in private education. Officers were not
able to confirm what reserves schools had in place to help fund classes but a list of
maintained school reserves would form part of the June outturn report.
Officers noted it would be possible to issue a brief electronic consultation on the
issue, with a plain English explanation. Forum members felt that providing too many
options in the consultation would reduce the number of responses and that any
option to provide less than 95% protection would not be a meaningful choice.
It was RESOLVED that Forum
 AGREED for AfC officers to issue a consultation to schools, presenting two
options, to either reinstate the protection rate at 95% or not to reinstate the
protection fund at all.
 AGREED The result of the consultation would need a minimum of a 60/40 %
split to effect any change
 AGREED An indecisive consultation response would require the final decision
to be put to an electronic vote to Schools Forum members.
Officers informed Forum that, following the last meeting, a disapplication had been
submitted to the DfE, which had agreed the Council could overrule the Schools
Forum decision not to fund the St Phillips capital borrowing from the Schools Block.
However, the Council were proposing to match fund the amount. The Council were
prepared to contribute £141k to the High Needs block, providing the St Phillips
capital build costs still came out of the schools block. This was a decision that the
Council would be looking to approve at the budget meeting of Full Council in
February 2019. Members were in favour of this match funding option.
Officers drew members attention to the additional funding to support special
educational needs, that had been announced by the Education Secretary in
December 2018. The Director of School Place Planning would be working with

Page 5

Official

colleagues to allocate use of the funds. The Government announcement had also
indicated that specialist free schools had increased chances of being approved,
which bode well for the application for a free school in Chessington.
Forum’s attention was drawn to the 2019/20 allocation for the High Needs Block.
Adjustments had been made for imports and exports, but it was clear that the
funding allocation would still be insufficient to meet spend.
Officers presented Forum with the information on the Early Years Block, noting that
the allocation would be updated once further census information was available.
Forum was asked to approve the early years central items spend.
It was RESOLVED that Forum
 AGREED the early years central items spend for the:
 early years advisory service and
 Home visits service for children with SEND
Forum discussed the early years SEN inclusion fund and the options for increasing
the value of the fund, as recommended in the report. It was noted that the Early
Years National Funding Formula had been beneficial to Kingston. The impact of
funding the high needs element from the hourly rate would be to set the rate at
£5.21. Forum referred to the recommendation in the SEND recovery plan to move
the Early Years High Needs Block spend. It was though the sector would be able to
cope with the rate as it was consistent with that set in 2018/19.
It was RESOLVED that Forum
 AGREED to recommend the early years hourly funding rate in order to fully
fund Early Years SEN units /top ups for children without an EHCP
 AGREED to recommend the funding rates for 2 year olds be set at £5.92 per
hour.
7. Forum Update
There were no updates from Forum.
8. Proposed Dates of the Next Meeting
It was noted the proposed date of the next meeting was




17 September 2019
19 November 2019
14 January 2020

The meeting, which began at 7.00pm, ended at 8.45pm.

Agenda Item 4
REPORT TO:
DATE:
SUBJECT:

Page 6
Item 4

Kingston Schools Forum
18 June 2019
SEND Transformation Plan update - Review of Alternative Provision

1.

Purpose of the report

1.1

To update Schools Forum on the approach to reviewing Alternative Provision for Kingston
pupils

2.

Recommendations

2.1

That Forum members discuss the approach to reviewing alternative provision and make
associated recommendations.

3.

Context

3.1

Alternative provision (AP) is education outside school, arranged by local authorities or
schools, for pupils who do not attend mainstream school for reasons such as school
exclusion, behaviour issues, school refusal, or short- or long-term illness. It includes settings
such as pupil referral units (PRUs), although some pupils who are on the roll of a PRU will also
attend other forms of alternative provision off-site.

3.2

Local authorities are responsible for arranging suitable education for permanently excluded
pupils, and for other pupils who – because of illness or other reasons – would not receive
suitable education without such arrangements being made. Governing bodies of schools are
responsible for arranging suitable full-time education from the sixth day of a fixed period
exclusion. Schools may also direct pupils off-site for education, on occasions when this might
be beneficial. Statutory guidance sets out the Government’s expectations of local authorities
and maintained schools who commission alternative provision and pupil referral units.

3.3

Schools Forum will be aware that the Council has agreed a four year SEND Transformation
plan with the Department for Education to address the escalating funding gap for high needs
education. Schools Forum considered and commented on this plan in November 2018 and it
was formally endorsed by local partners at the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 28th
March 2019. As part of the plan a review is being undertaken of all budget lines in the High
Needs Block to identify where resources may be misaligned with need or where efficiency
savings can be made through improving processes. Alternative provision was specifically
identified as an area for review.

4.

Current delivery model for alternative provision in Kingston

4.1

Alternative provision is currently delivered via two main providers:
●

Malden Oaks
Malden Oaks is commissioned to provide tuition for pupils who are unable to attend school
due to medical issues. These pupils typically receive around 7.5 hours a week tuition as their
medical needs mean that they frequently cannot access more education than this. This
provision is increased as appropriate and develops to include group sessions at Malden Oaks

Page 7
if the CYP is well enough and to support the reintegration to school. Schools refer to this
service via Malden Oaks (https://maldenoaks.org/gallery/referrals-medical-tuition/). In order
for a CYP to be eligible for medical tuition there has to be written evidence from a medically
qualified Consultant confirming that the CYP is currently too unwell to be in school. In May
MO were supporting 11 children on medical tuition.
Malden Oaks also provides education to pupils that have been permanently excluded. Where
a child is permanently excluded they complete a referral to Malden Oaks, in liaison with the
AfC Exclusions and reintegration officer. Local authorities have responsibility to provide
education for permanently excluded pupils from the 6th day of exclusion from school.
Where a school wishes to refer a CYP for a respite place, they refer directly to Malden Oaks
(See https://maldenoaks.org/gallery/school-referrals/). The suitability of the referral is
discussed at a weekly internal Malden Oaks panel of AfC officers and the school’s
headteacher and following this the place is confirmed or otherwise. An AfC fortnightly
individual pupil referral panel provides oversight of pupils joining Malden Oaks and agrees
when pupils should be taken to the Fair Access Panel to be reintegrated back into school.
FInally, Malden Oaks provides one day a week programmes for KS3 and year 11 pupils who
are at risk of disengaging from education. Students gain a range of qualifications from a
range of outstanding local providers such as Albany Park. At the end of March 2019, there
were 4 year 11 pupils and 4 KS3 pupils on this programme. Schools refer directly to Malden
Oaks to access the MOOT programmes.
The following funding is planned to be provided to MO during 2018/19. Funding that relates
to EHCP support has been excluded.

*reflects number of pupils not number of full time timetables
**RSS includes 8 MOOT who receive 1 day a week tuition
●

Anstee Bridge (part of Achieving for Children)
Anstee Bridge is currently located within Kingston College, however this arrangement will
change from 1st September. Anstee Bridge provides ‘respite’ places for young people in Y11
from Kingston Secondary schools. Young people attend Anstee Bridge for one day a week and
then are expected to continue for the other four days at their secondary school.

Page 8
Anstee Bridge is an alternative learning programme for young people facing emotional
challenges that cause them to struggle and disengage from education. The programme
provides bespoke support for young people with a range of emotional and social issues,
helping them to cope with the pressures of their final year of education. This is achieved
through a holistic approach that links every aspect of a young person’s care including:
●
●
●

Emotional support and coaching to help young people find a post-16 destination.
Life skills, including healthy eating and looking after sexual health.
A programme of creative activities to build confidence and increase mental
well-being

The aim is to ensure our young people complete the programme with an increased level of
confidence and self-esteem so that they want to re-engage with education in an appropriate
post-16 destination.
Last year 23 young people from Kingston schools enrolled, alongside two students from
Richmond schools (Richmond schools were charged £3,000 per student to cover costs). For
September 2019, 33 young people have been nominated by Kingston schools. This will mean
that teaching groups will be approximately 8 young people per day.
Staff make use of Fridays for administration and planning. There are two members of staff,
the Anstee Bridge Co-ordinator and a Teaching Assistant. The funding covers the salary costs
of staff and the minimal accommodation costs (currently £2,000). All other costs are covered
by the substantial fundraising that the Anstee Bridge Co-ordinator manages.

5.

Update on review progress

5.1

The review of Alternative Provision is being co-ordinated by AfC officers in the SEND
Transformation Local Provision workstream. To date the work in this area has focused on
reviewing whether the resource provided to Malden Oaks is appropriate and aligned to need
and also looking at possible future funding models for Anstee Bridge.
Malden Oaks

5.2

Kingston DSG will provide £896k to Malden Oaks to support pupils who need to access
alternative provision in 2019/20 (excludes EHCPs). Work is underway with the school to
better understand how many pupils are accessing support and what level of support
(timetable hours) is being provided. There is a need for a clearer information sharing
protocol between AfC / Council and Malden Oaks to ensure that AfC and borough schools are
able to have effective oversight to enable limited DSG resources to be prioritised
appropriately.

5.3

To begin this process AfC officers have discussed the financial position with the Headteacher
and it has been mutually agreed that the school’s underspend from 2018/19 of £125,000 will
be repaid in to the DSG pot in 2019/20. In addition a reduction of a further £75,000 has been
agreed. Based on the pupil data that is known it is suggested that this reduction comes from
the Reintegration Support Service but AfC have given Malden Oaks the flexibility to allocate
resources between the pupil places as they think best.

5.4

This arrangement will enable £200,000 to be reallocated towards other high needs priorities
where there is insufficient funding in 2019/20. The Local Provision workstream will continue

Page 9
to review the current delivery model during 2019/20 and Schools Forum will be kept updated
and given the opportunity to comment on any changes that may directly impact on support
available to pupils.
Anstee Bridge
5.4

The workstream have also been considering alternative funding models for Anstee Bridge.
Anstee Bridge is currently funded through a combination of DSG grant funding (£100,000),
Council general fund budget (£9,200) and through other grants and income that are claimed
on a specific business case / pupil basis (£24,000 to date). The workstream are looking at
funding model options which could make Anstee Bridge financially self sufficient. The
possible options include allowing Anstee Bridge the flexibility to charge schools for services
or to become an independent charitable body so that they can bid for more grant funding
outside of the Dedicated Schools Grant.

5.5

To progress the assessment and development of all options the workstream are planning to
set up a working group consisting of headteachers, AfC officers and other relevant parties to
develop proposals and make recommendations. If changes are agreed these are likely to be
effective from September 2020.

6.

Next steps

6.1

The review of alternative provision is ongoing and AfC officers will keep schools updated
where tangible options that would change the current model arise.

7.

Contacts
Pauline Maddison
Director of Childrens Services
RB Kingston upon Thames / Achieving for Children
pauline.maddison@kingston.gov.uk

Agenda Item 5
REPORT TO:
DATE:
SUBJECT:

Page 10
Item 5

Kingston Schools Forum
18 June 2019
Education Commission

1.

Purpose of the report

1.1

To update Schools Forum on the publication of the Education Commission report.

1.2

To facilitate a discussion by Schools Forum on the Commission findings and in particular
those that relate to schools and Schools Forum.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

That Forum members discuss the report and make associated recommendations.

3.

Context

3.1

Schools Forum will be aware that, in February 2018, the principle was agreed of inviting an
‘Education Commission’ to take an independent view of the difficulties surrounding the
delivery of Education Services in Kingston. The Commission, which started work in October
2018, was asked to look at how the overspend occurred and to provide recommendations as
to what the Council might do to deliver its education provision within the available financial
envelope. The cited objectives of the Commission were:
● to ensure all key stakeholders understand their roles and responsibilities in the
system and how they can collectively secure the best for our children and
young people from the education funding available
● to produce an evidence base and route map to ensure that: funding equals
expenditure; all stakeholders are maximising independence and inclusion; the
right support is provided at the right time; all are complying appropriately with
legislation, and there is an appropriate balance between quality and resources
● to produce a clear evidence base in respect of any underlying funding issues
which will provide support to Council's approach to any future discussions on
Dedicated Schools Grant

4.

Commission findings

4.1

The Commission formally began its work on 1 October 2018 and will close following the
outcome of the Children and Adults Care and Education Committee on the 13th June 2019.
The review process involved a structured programme of activity commencing with a review
of background materials, the framing of questions and a first round of engagement with
stakeholders. Following this a review of the outcomes from these interviews was undertaken
which was developed into initial findings that were reflected back to Commissioners and
stakeholders. The Commission did not act as a formal enquiry but instead its role
encompassed gathering information and making recommendations through a process of
collaborative engagement and exploration. Following this, there was a second round of

Page 11
stakeholder engagement to test these hypotheses, from which final conclusions and
recommendations were developed.
4.2

The full Committee report is available to view at the following link:
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=662&MId=8756

4.3

The Commission report is available at the following link:
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/documents/s84099/2.2_recd2905_Annex%202_Educatio
n%20Commission%20Report%20PM.pdf

4.4

The Council has put together an action plan which is available to view at the following link:
https://moderngov.kingston.gov.uk/documents/s84093/2.3_FINALAnnex%203_Action%20Pl
an%20responding%20to%20EC%20Recommendations.pdf

4.5

Schools Forum are encouraged to discuss the full report and attention is specifically drawn to
the following recommendations:
“It is recommended that the Schools Forum:
33. Considers the value in expanding membership of sub committees or working groups to
cover specialist areas (such as High Needs) in order to broaden the base of the Forum’s
work to include collaborative consideration of existing and emerging issues as they relate
to the funding environment.
34. Annually, consider the need and scope for reallocation of funds from the Schools Block
into the High Needs Block, in order to make optimum provision for all Kingston children
and young people.
35. Facilitate and support all schools’ commitment to the recommended whole system
approach to the use of the DSG and the application of the DfE recommended levels of
balance requirements.”

4.6

Schools Forum are asked to discuss the findings and associated action plan and make
recommendations.

5.

Contacts
Pauline Maddison
Director of Childrens Services
RB Kingston upon Thames / Achieving for Children
pauline.maddison@kingston.gov.uk

Page 12

Agenda Item 6

ITEM 6

REPORT TO:

Kingston Schools Forum

DATE:

18 June 2019

SUBJECT:

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 2018/19 Outturn and Deficit Recovery Plan

1. Purpose of Report
1.1.

To update the Forum on:


the final 2018/19 DSG grant allocation and its application to the Schools Budget in 2018/19;



the final DSG outturn for the 2018/19 financial year;



the draft DfE Deficit Recovery Plan

2. Recommendations
2.1.

That the Forum:


Note the final DSG expenditure for the 2018/19 financial year



Comment on the DfE Deficit Recovery Plan

3. DSG Budget in the 2018/19 Financial Year
3.1.

There have been no changes to the Government funding allocation since the position was last
reported in January 2019. The table below shows the final application of the 2018/19 DSG
between the four expenditure blocks.
Application of 2018/19 DSG

Total
£m

Schools Block
School Budget Share
Central School Budget Share
Growth Fund

Net
£m

Total

97.281
0.475
0.807
98.564

(49.050)
0.000
0.000
(49.050)

48.231
0.475
0.807
49.514

Total

0.955
0.955

0.000
0.000

0.955
0.955

11.778
0.709
12.487

0.000
0.000
0.000

11.778
0.709
12.487

6.949
18.671
1.081
0.000
26.701

(5.560)
0.000
0.000
0.000
(5.560)

1.388
18.671
1.081
0.000
21.141

138.707

(54.610)

84.097

Central School Services Block
Central School Budget Share
Early Years
Early Years Budget Share
Central Early Years Budget Share
Total
High Needs Block
Special School & Unit Funding
SEN Resources to Schools / Academies
Other High Needs Budget
FE Colleges Recoupment
Total
Total Schools Budget

Academy
Recoupment
£m

Page 13
4. Final DSG Outturn for the 2018/19 financial year
4.1.

The borough spent £139.1m on DSG funded education services in 2018/19 compared to a grant
allocation of £138.7m (including academies). This represents an in year overspend of £0.381m
and a cumulative overspend of £11.071m on the fund as at 31st March 2019. Explanations of the
changes since the last forum are included from paragraph 4.5 onward. These figures includes
the £3m one off funding by the Department of Education and the £1m in year schools block
transfer. The funding was spent as follows:

2018/19 DSG Outturn
Schools Block
Central School Services Block
Early Years Block
High Needs Block
Sub-Total
2017/18 Carry forward
Total

Budget
£m
49.514
0.955
12.487
21.141
84.097
(10.690)
73.407

Outturn
£m
49.670
0.985
11.602
22.221
84.478
0.000
84.478

Variance
£m
0.156
0.030
(0.885)
1.080
0.381
10.690
11.071

Previous
Forum
(November)
(0.275)
0.025
(0.202)
1.999
1.547
10.690
12.237

4.2.

AfC, the Council and partners have been tasked with implementing recovery actions to bring
spend back into line with the grant allocation over the next three years. An update on this
strategy is detailed in section five of this report.

4.3.

Demand for EHCP’s increased by 144 since the start of the financial year indicating that the
speed at which demand is escalating is not improving. The average costs attached to the 144
new EHCP’s have a lower average cost than those finalised in previous financial years. This is an
indication that the changes aimed at improving efficiency are having a positive impact on the
level of spend.

4.4.

The material area of overspend remains on services and support funded through the High Needs
Block. The position can be broken down across the four DSG blocks as follows:

Schools Block
4.5.

The Schools Block overspent by £156k. The main reasons for the variance were due to:


The final Business Rates bills were £151k higher than anticipated when the budget was set
due to the in-year revaluation of four schools across the Borough.

Page 14
Following the consultation regarding the Growth fund protection scheme the unspent balance of
the growth fund was paid back to schools at the end of the financial year.
Schools Balances
4.6.

Maintained school balances increased by £0.279m in 2018/19 with 19 out of 33 schools
increasing their balances. 14 maintained schools reduced their balances. Reserve balances in
maintained schools now total more than £4.7m in revenue and £0.4m in capital. This is a 6% and
123% increase respectively when comparing to 2017/18. Reserve balances for Academies and
Free Schools reduced by £1.1m bringing total academy/free school balances to £6.8m as at
August 2018. The school level movements are attached at appendices A and B.
Central School Services Block

4.7.

The Central School Services Block has overspent by £30k. The main reasons for these variances
are:




The repayment of debt associated with St Phillips capital build was £22k less than
estimated when the budget was set.
The Admissions Team overspent by £21k. The overspend relates to the annual
maintenance and support costs for the admissions system.
The Primary Mental Health Service overspent by £27k. This overspend relates to the
increased use of clinical psychologists and supervisions in year due to demand increases
for the Emotional Health Service.

Early Years Block

4.8.

The Early Years Block underspent by £885k in 2018/19. This is an increase of £683k since the last
forum report. This change occurred due to the release of the draft and final census numbers in
January and March 2019 respectively. The final census showed a significant drop in uptake
during the Autumn Term followed by a higher than expected increase in Spring Term uptake.
The full year’s budget is set on the Spring Term numbers only and this subsequently led to a
larger than anticipated underspend across nearly all Nursery budgets.

Page 15

4.9.

The SEND Inclusion Fund underspent by £129k in-year. This funding is allocated to support the
inclusion of children with SEND, promote early intervention and improve outcomes for children.
Providers who support children with SEND can request additional financial support from the
fund. The number of requests have been below what was expected at the start of the financial
year. The revised scheme has only been in place for half the year and so a higher level of spend
is expected in 2019/20.

High Needs Block
4.10. Significant cost pressures continued in the High Needs Block in 2018/19 with the outturn
position being overspent by £1.08m. More positively this position is close to the best case
position reported at the previous forum, meaning that future demand and expected pressures
have been mitigated during the last four months of the year. This has been achieved through
continuing review and changes within the system that remain ongoing as part of the SEN
Transformation Plan. The figures reported include the £3m advance from the Department of
Education as well as the in-year £1m Schools Block Transfer.
4.11. The main reasons for the change in the High Needs Block variance of £0.9m since the January
forum (based on November 2018 projections) are:






Releasing of future demand in pre 16 as new EHCP’s from November 2018 to March 2019
were at a lower than average cost and only incurring costs for part year. Whilst EHCP
numbers increased significantly in year, there was a higher than expected proportion that
occurred in the later stages of the financial year. This reduced projections by £0.5m.
No future demand required for Post 16 pupils as learner numbers marginally decreased
rather than increased. This reduced projections by £0.15m.
Increased income from other local authorities for pupils in our Specialist Resource Provisions
reduced projections by £0.15m.
Placement start date delays that were assumed in projections led to a reduction of £0.1m

Page 16

*Previous forum based on November monitoring
Places in Special Schools and Units
4.12. Spend of £1.5m was funded from the high needs block for special schools and unit places. A
further £5.56m is forecast to be spent on place funding recoupment for academies and colleges.
It is important to note that the first £4k in place funding for units is paid from the schools block
and so the prior year actual is not directly comparable in the table above.
Pupils under the age of 16
4.13. The Borough spent £9.39m (£9.44m at Jan forum) on top up funding in 2018/19. The number of
top-ups is currently 662 (628 at previous forum). Projections and number of top-ups rise as the
number of EHCPs increase during the year and it is highly likely that these pressures will
continue to increase in 2019/20 onward. The average cost of a top up has remained stable since
the last forum, with an average of 3% reduction on a like for like basis when comparing EHCP
averages to 2017/18. The cost of top ups depend on rates set by schools. Where possible a
request is being made for top up levels to be frozen but AfC are limited in terms of what can be
done when out of borough schools increase charges.

Page 17

4.14. Spend on independent places totalled £5.43m for 2018/19 (£5.56m projected at last forum).
This spend relates to all independent and non-maintained placements for pupils under the age
of sixteen in 2018/19. The numbers below include pupils across placement types on Individual
Programmes (e.g. Speech and Language Therapy, Physiotherapy, Occupational Therapy and
Applied Behaviour Analysis). The pupils and costs can be further broken down as follows:

Page 18
Pupils over the age of 16
4.15. The Borough spent £3.86m (£3.86m previous forum) on high needs education for pupils over the
age of 16. These learners are educated in school placements, independent special provisions
(ISP), further education settings and vocational training settings. The average cost has reduced
as the percentage of learners in college and apprenticeships has increased throughout the
financial year (55% in April, 70% in July and 72% in November). This has resulted in projected
spend remaining stable despite demand increasing by 25 learners since the end of April, with a
peak increase of 34 at quarter 2.

4.16. Post 16 spend in schools across Independent Placements, Mainstream, Academies, Special
Schools and Out of Borough was £2.3m (£2.2m in Jan). This is split by schools spending of £1m
and independent spend of £1.27m.
4.17. The table below shows the breakdown of the schools total of £1m on 52 pupils:

4.18. Post 16 spend in schools across Independent Placements was £1.27m (£1.16m Jan forum). This
spend can be broken down as follows:

Page 19

4.19. Spend on Post 16 only providers across Independent Specialist Providers (ISP) and Further
Education (FE) was £1.583m (£1.66m at previous forum). Whilst numbers have significantly
increased in FE, the average costs have reduced since last financial year as a result of placement
reviews and pathway planning. Average costs in ISP and FE have reduced since 2017/18, with
more learners now placed in FE and Training. FE placements have positive outcomes for young
people and are a significantly lower cost than ISP. Vocational Training has minimal cost to the
Council.

Central High Needs Spend
4.20. The total spend on centrally co-ordinated high needs services in 2018/19 was £1.3m. This
represents an overspend of £191k on approved budgets principally due to increased investment
within the SEN Team and new roles introduced on an invest to save basis as part of the SEN
Transformation Plan. The Invest to Save posts include Annual Review Officers, Transition
Officers and 0.5 SEN Commissioner.

5.

DfE Deficit Recovery Plan

Page 20
5.1.

In February 2019 the Government introduced a new requirement for boroughs who are
spending more on education than the DSG allocation allows. Any area with a cumulative
overspend on the DSG fund of more than 1% must submit a three year Deficit Recovery Plan to
the DfE at the end of June each year. Kingston is required to submit a plan as the overspend is
8% of the annual grant allocation.

5.2.

The plan must detail how the borough intends to bring cumulative expenditure in to line with
the funding that is being made available by Government. The guidance is clear that there is no
requirement for the Council to make up the funding shortfall from non DSG funding sources.
The DfE have provided a template and the Local Authority is required to discuss the plan with
Schools Forum in advance of the submission.

5.3.

The draft submission for the RB Kingston is attached at appendix C. The Schools Forum is asked
to discuss the plan and make associated recommendations. The plan is based on the SEND
Transformation Plan that has been discussed at previous meetings in detail. Once submitted,
the DfE will consider the plan and will communicate acceptance or next steps during September
2019.

6.

High Needs Strategy

6.1.

The SEND Transformation Plan was approved as a working document at the Health and
Wellbeing Board on 28 March 2019. It is published on the Local Offer and Council websites. The
differences between the previous draft version and the latest iteration reflect financial changes
and responses to feedback received during the consultation. The Plan will now return to both
the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education Committee and the Health and Wellbeing Board
on a six monthly basis, and to Budget Council as part of the annual budget setting process.

6.2.

A progress update on the Transformation Plan is attached in Appendix D.

7.

Financial Implications

7.1.

The projected level of spend is not affordable for schools or the Council and therefore it is
important that all local partners continue to develop and implement plans to bring the cost of
high needs services more in line with the Government grant allocation. It is also important that
both schools and the Council continue to raise awareness of the funding shortfall with
Government and lobby for solutions. Significant progress has been made in implementing the
SEND Transformation Plan over the last 12 months. This activity is already assisting in improving
service delivery and making the limited funds that are available for high needs stretch further. A
significant funding gap still remains and so it is important that the transformation continues over
the coming years.

8.

Appendices
Appendix A – LBR Maintained Schools Balances 18/19
Appendix B – Academy and Free School Balances 18/19
Appendix C – DfE Deficit Recovery Plan
Appendix D - Update on the Transformation Plan

9.

Contacts

Page 21
Lucy Kourpas
Director of Finance and Resources
Achieving for Children
lucy.kourpas@achievingforchildren.org
Ashley Whittaker
SEND Transformation Programme Director
Achieving for Children
Ashley.whittaker@achievingforchildren.org.uk

Appendix A

Revenue
167,468.26
172,184.11
257,546.92
-1,443,384.58
269,092.28
167,781.34
130,477.70
131,143.92
136,867.54
78,279.36
311,132.49
294,895.10
214,583.81
284,571.70
647,164.01
268,049.53
150,532.32
201,064.93
201,496.91
63,860.25
98,355.78
169,198.02
79,475.93
64,756.68
51,987.57
243,972.17
100,437.05
75,412.49
116,526.73
100,547.64
101,856.38
123,192.36
437,448.97
4,467,975.67

Closing 2017/18
Capital
9,200.05
0.00
17,949.51
6,883.44
0.00
0.00
9,602.91
0.00
0.00
10,872.76
526.64
21,634.21
0.00
8,461.78
3,673.25
14,806.27
16,486.56
8,439.76
4,805.12
0.00
10,371.48
0.00
7,308.26
0.00
0.00
0.00
13,715.42
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
2,662.04
30,765.87
198,165.33

Total
176,668.31
172,184.11
275,496.43
-1,436,501.14
269,092.28
167,781.34
140,080.61
131,143.92
136,867.54
89,152.12
311,659.13
316,529.31
214,583.81
293,033.48
650,837.26
282,855.80
167,018.88
209,504.69
206,302.03
63,860.25
108,727.26
169,198.02
86,784.19
64,756.68
51,987.57
243,972.17
114,152.47
75,412.49
116,526.73
100,547.64
101,856.38
125,854.40
468,214.84
4,666,141.00

Revenue
214,764.49
323,393.78
393,826.45
-1,600,000.00
389,881.60
129,973.19
159,381.36
126,354.78
162,863.68
40,980.51
311,955.21
190,413.14
243,262.42
406,594.18
636,775.35
215,355.03
87,171.68
132,833.29
353,518.17
97,836.33
113,575.64
186,225.10
70,418.86
62,758.06
92,649.91
160,825.78
111,441.29
93,810.36
31,819.31
106,246.61
37,812.77
191,450.05
470,756.33
4,746,924.71

Closing 2018/19
Capital
20,388.83
0.00
14,013.89
33,870.07
0.00
0.00
9,029.98
0.00
0.00
31,888.30
491.63
52,481.95
2,222.30
28,925.30
29,015.08
20,593.94
46,392.37
29,908.04
0.00
0.00
27,054.90
0.00
13,737.31
2,173.15
0.00
0.00
24,532.83
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
8,216.08
46,964.22
441,900.17

Total
235,153.32
323,393.78
407,840.34
-1,566,129.93
389,881.60
129,973.19
168,411.34
126,354.78
162,863.68
72,868.81
312,446.84
242,895.09
245,484.72
435,519.48
665,790.43
235,948.97
133,564.05
162,741.33
353,518.17
97,836.33
140,630.54
186,225.10
84,156.17
64,931.21
92,649.91
160,825.78
135,974.12
93,810.36
31,819.31
106,246.61
37,812.77
199,666.13
517,720.55
5,188,824.88

Revenue
47,296.23
151,209.67
136,279.53
-156,615.42
120,789.32
-37,808.15
28,903.66
-4,789.14
25,996.14
-37,298.85
822.72
-104,481.96
28,678.61
122,022.48
-10,388.66
-52,694.50
-63,360.64
-68,231.64
152,021.26
33,976.08
15,219.86
17,027.08
-9,057.07
-1,998.62
40,662.34
-83,146.39
11,004.24
18,397.87
-84,707.42
5,698.97
-64,043.61
68,257.69
33,307.36
278,949.04

CHANGE
Capital
11,188.78
0.00
-3,935.62
26,986.63
0.00
0.00
-572.93
0.00
0.00
21,015.54
-35.01
30,847.74
2,222.30
20,463.52
25,341.83
5,787.67
29,905.81
21,468.28
-4,805.12
0.00
16,683.42
0.00
6,429.05
2,173.15
0.00
0.00
10,817.41
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
5,554.04
16,198.35
243,734.84

Total
58,485.01
151,209.67
132,343.91
-129,628.79
120,789.32
-37,808.15
28,330.73
-4,789.14
25,996.14
-16,283.31
787.71
-73,634.22
30,900.91
142,486.00
14,953.17
-46,906.83
-33,454.83
-46,763.36
147,216.14
33,976.08
31,903.28
17,027.08
-2,628.02
174.53
40,662.34
-83,146.39
21,821.65
18,397.87
-84,707.42
5,698.97
-64,043.61
73,811.73
49,505.71
522,683.88

Page 22

W62031
W62002
W62001
W64006
W63302
W63301
W62004
W62028
W63500
W62005
W62037
W62033
W62008
W62032
W62035
W62006
W62036
W62034
W61101
W63303
W62030
W63501
W62020
W63304
W63305
W63502
W65200
W63311
W63310
W63308
W63309
W61001
W62025

School
Alexandra School
Burlington Infant and Nursery School
Burlington Junior School
Chessington Community College
Christ Church C of E Primary School
Christ Church C of E New Malden Primary School
Coombe Hill Infant School
Coombe Hill Junior School
Corpus Christi Catholic Primary School
Ellingham Primary School
Fern Hill Primary School
Grand Avenue Primary and Nursery School
Green Lane Primary and Nursery School
King Athelstan Primary School
King's Oak Primary School
Lime Tree Primary School
Lovelace Primary School
Malden Manor Primary and Nursery School
Malden Oaks (PRU)
Malden Parochial C of E Primary School
Maple Infants' School
Our Lady Immaculate Catholic Primary School
Robin Hood Primary School
St Andrew's & St Mark's C of E Junior School
St John's C of E Primary School
St Joseph's RC Primary School
St Luke's C of E Primary School
St Mary's C of E Primary School
St Matthew's C of E Primary School
St Paul's C of E Primary School
St Paul’s C of E Primary School, Kingston Hill
Surbiton Children’s Centre Nursery
Tolworth Primary School
Total

Appendix B
Trust

Schools

Castle Hill Academies Trust
St Agatha's Catholic Primary School
Chapel Street Community Schools Trust
Kingston Educational Trust
Southborough High School
Tiffin Girls' School
Tolworth Girls' School And Sixth Form
Tiffin School
Richard Challoner School
Holy Cross School
Latchmere Academy Trust
Coombe Academy Trust
Coombe Academy Trust
Coombe Academy Trust
Every Child, Every Day Academy Trust
Orchard Hill College Academy Trust
Orchard Hill College Academy Trust
Orchard Hill College Academy Trust

Source - DfE Financial Benchmarking Website; Correct as at August 2018

Academies in
Change in Year Revenue Reserve
Trust
1,230,000
1
(61,000)
29,000
1
(40,000)
(1,270,000)
7
1,060,000
129,000
1
5,000
140,000
1
(98,000)
464,000
1
(193,000)
1,290,000
1
(438,000)
573,000
1
715,000
46,000
1
(10,000)
(395,000)
1
74,000
953,000
2
14,000
3
489,000
(173,000)
3
as above
as above
3
as above
as above
1,180,000
2
(962,000)
12
5,190,000
(1,830,000)
12
as above
as above
12
as above
as above
(1,937,000)
10,048,000

Change in Year
(61,000)
(40,000)
(64,300)
5,000
(98,000)
(193,000)
(438,000)
715,000
(10,000)
74,000
(151,000)
(81,000)
(31,000)
(61,000)
(424,400)
(133,300)
(104,200)
(13,600)
(1,109,800)

Revenue
Reserve
1,230,000
29,000
(59,000)
129,000
140,000
464,000
1,290,000
573,000
46,000
(395,000)
633,700
41,500
277,700
169,800
516,800
507,300
502,100
742,600
6,838,500

Page 23

Castle Hill Primary School
St Agatha's Catholic Primary School
Kingston Community School
The Kingston Academy
Southborough High School
The Tiffin Girls' School
Tolworth Girls' School and Sixth Form
Tiffin School
Richard Challoner School
The Holy Cross School
Latchmere School
Knollmead Primary School
Coombe Girls' School
Coombe Boys' School
The Hollyfield School and Sixth Form Centre
Bedelsford
Dysart
St Phillips
Total Academy Balances

Trust

Academy

Page 24

Appendix D

RBK Schools’ Forum June 2019
RBK SEND Transformation Plan 2019/20 to 2021/22
Update report
1. Introduction
The SEND Transformation Plan was approved as a working document at the Health and Wellbeing Board on
28 March 2019. It is published on the Local Offer and Council websites. The differences between the
previous draft version and the latest iteration reflect financial changes and responses to feedback received
during the consultation. The Plan will now return to both the Children’s and Adults’ Care and Education
Committee and the Health and Wellbeing Board on a six monthly basis, and to Budget Council as part of the
annual budget setting process.
2. Workstream 1: Strategy and Governance
Workstream leadership has been broadened and strengthened through the appointment of co-chairs from
outside AfC. This reflects the need for implementation of the plan to be owned and shared as widely as
possible across the whole system. A group to consider a whole system workforce strategy is meeting in
June, with representatives from AfC, the CCG, the Council and partners.
Parents and carers interested in becoming part of Kingston’s SEND Parent Consortium met in May to meet
and explore proposals. 22 parents and carers have registered an interest in being involved in the Parent
Consortium. There will be further meetings with interested parties in July, when Contact, the organisation
commissioned by the DfE to re-establish a Parent Carer Forum in Kingston, will also be present. In addition
to this, schools are in discussions with AfC about how their own existing systems of engagement with
families and young people can be leveraged and if necessary adapted to better incorporate the voices of
children and young people and families into the transformation of SEND services. As well as adding several
new mechanisms for children, young people and families to provide feedback on service provision (such as
the delivery of a programme of coffee mornings and the implementation of an online survey after every
EHCP annual review) AfC is conducting a review of all parent / carer and children / young people
engagement and participation activity, including the Local Offer website, with the aim of deploying
resources more effectively.
3. Workstream 2: Commercial thinking
The development of a centralised approach to education placement commissioning continues, with the
current focus being on applying improved practices already used for placements for 16 to 25 year olds to 0
to 16 years also. The current situation prevails because different teams within AfC currently cover these
two age ranges. A more coordinated and systematic process to agreeing placements combined with tighter
ongoing contract management arrangements is expected to bring both quality and further financial
benefits. Given the number of existing placements already in place, a specific exercise has been
undertaken to ensure all independent placements have up to date contracts in place, against which
providers can be held to account. Key to this has been the use of dedicated commissioning staff in a
centralised team.
4. Workstream 3: Local provision.

Page 25
Due to the breadth of work being undertaken within this workstream, the team has been subdivided into
four groups. These are:
a. Sufficiency (school place planning for mainstream, specialist resource provision and special
school places). The latest progress with the expansion of local specialist places, including
the recently approved ASD freeschool, is shown here:

Venue

Specialism

Extra
places

Specialist Resource Provisions
Surbiton Children’s
Centre Nursery
School

Social communication needs including autism and
moderate and severe learning difficulties

6

Castle Hill Primary
School

Speech language and communication needs and
learning difficulties

16

King Athelstan
Primary School

Social, emotional and mental health

6

Latchmere School

Social communication needs including autism and mild
to moderate learning difficulties

6

Coombe Girls’
School

Communication needs, including hearing impairment

30

Hollyfield School
and Sixth Form
Centre

Social communication needs including autism, mild to
moderate learning difficulties and sensory and
emotional health needs

20

Tolworth Girls’

Emotional health (including girls with autism)

10

Dysart School

Severe and complex learning disabilities

29

St Philip’s

Moderate learning difficulties

40

New Free School

Autistic spectrum disorder

90

Special Schools

Total

253

In addition, a special school for social, emotional and mental health needs has also been
approved to be located in Richmond following a joint application with Kingston. Market
warming to secure high quality interest in delivering these new special free school
opportunities, including marketing materials and responses to potential applicants is
underway. Work continues with Mastodon C (external company with expertise in place
demand and expenditure forecasting) on the 10 year sufficiency strategy, expected to be
finalised in the early autumn. This will also allow post 16 pathways to be developed in an
objective way.

Page 26
b. Therapy provision. The review of speech and language, occupational and physiotherapy
provision in Kingston (and Richmond) continues. This will inform the commissioning of
future services from April 2020. Public consultations will commence during the summer
term and continue into the autumn, when the re-commissioning process will also start.
c. 11 - 16 years Alternative Provision pathway. Work concentrates on reconsidering the
model for supporting children and young people who require some form of alternative
provision for part or all of their education week, and how this can be improved through
systemic changes in mainstream schools and quality assured alternative providers. The
target for implementation is September 2020.
d. 16 to 25 years Provision pathway. Next steps interviews with Year 11 students are
complete and continue with Year 10. Discussions with a local special school provider
regarding a reorganisation of local 16 to 25 year provision continue. This reflects not only
the intention to improve outcomes for current and future cohorts in this age range, but is a
response to the need to reconsider the number of places required following the increase in
the upper statutory age range from 19 to 25 years under the 2014 reforms. Apprenticeship
opportunities continue to be expanded, including creation of new places within the council
for our SEND young people.
5. Workstream 4: Early intervention and planning
All secondary schools in Kingston are taking part in a peer review of their inclusion practice, and the first
review has now taken place. Meetings of the workstream have focused on analysing real case studies to
identify gaps and refinements to the early intervention offer across partners. This includes training and
development needs across stakeholders. The Early Intervention Panel has met four times since the
autumn. Early successes include the delivery of support without the need for an EHCP and stabilisation of
mainstream placement rather than transfer to special school provision. More integrated working now
routinely takes place between AfC’s education and social care / early help staff (including Youth Resilience
and Youth Offending Team staff), and there is much closer joint planning between AfC inclusion staff and
Public Health and Your Healthcare colleagues. This specific initiative is currently considering how early
intervention can be developed more across services and include fuller engagement of school nurses in the
process. A contract has been signed with Positive Families Partnership to deliver multisystemic therapy/
functional family therapy as intensive interventions to avoid family breakdown that otherwise is likely to
lead to residential care or to the child or young person becoming looked after. Referral pathways and the
decision making panel process about which cases will be subject to this particular intervention have been
agreed.
6. Workstream 5: Assessment and planning
This workstream particularly addresses the practice which forms part of the Written Statement of Action,
following the SEND inspection in September 2018, which is monitored by the DFE and NHS England
Considerable time has been spent on upskilling staff both inside and outside AfC e.g school staff. Training
sessions have included bespoke delivery to the three AfC Cluster Teams, the whole AfC social care service,
social care managers, school nurses, the Strengthening Families Team and the Youth Resilience Service
including the Youth Offending Team. School SENCOs have been attending training on “Participation /
person centred reviews” as part of the work to improve the quality of the EHCP annual review process.
Each Annual Review Officer is now expected to finalise 20 plans per month, although this will always be
dependent on the information being received back from partners. An electronic survey has been

Page 27
completed with schools to gain feedback on how improvements can be made to this and other aspects of
the assessment process.
Pleasingly the team continues to meet the statutory 20 week timescale to agree EHCPs in 100% of cases.
This is significantly above the national average. Priorities in the coming month include further developing
(and then implementing) the new quality assurance framework, and building on the newly instigated (since
April) monthly SEN manager performance meeting.
The SEN Team and AfC’s Participation Officer have proposed a new approach to the involvement of young
people in their annual review. Five schools will be involved in a pilot during the summer term to trial this
new approach, with the intention being to expand this to all schools in the autumn term.

7. Workstream 6: Home to school travel
The Home to School Travel Policy for Children with SEND was considered by the Children’s and Adults’ Care
and Education Committee on 13th February. It was resolved that:
a. subject to the findings of an ongoing consultation, that collection points would be implemented on
selected routes to improve efficiency and, wherever possible, reduce journey times for pupils; 1
b. targeted independent travel training would be implemented for young people with SEND to
promote independence, life skills and their future employability;
c. an enhanced parent pay offer is implemented which supports families to arrange transport
between home and school for their own child, by increasing the payment rate from 47 pence per
mile to £1 per mile where appropriate and agreed;
These policies create a stand-alone SEN Transport policy for Kingston, replacing the existing AfC SEN
Transport policy which covers the London Borough of Richmond also. An options appraisal and business
case regarding the future operating model has been developed and considered. Agreement has been
reached that the service will be delivered via a combination of in-house and commissioned services.
Related to this there is ongoing consultation with Skanska staff who deliver borough bus routes with a view
to bringing these staff inhouse following the end of the bus contract with Skanska in July 2019 and the
development of a new Dynamic Purchasing System for taxi routes in partnership with LB Sutton and LB
Richmond for use from September 2019. Current work also includes development of independent travel
training plans and ambitions to promote independence, life skills and future employability. This requires all
partners and families to work together to support young people in the development of these life skills
including travelling as independently as they are able. The Council is also in the process of identifying a
new site for the minibus depot following cessation of the current arrangement at Cocks Crescent in July
2019. In addition to ensuring that transport is delivered as efficiently and cost effectively as possible in the
context of rising SEND need, it is also important to at least maintain the quality of service provision during a
period of considerable change in the operational arrangements.

1

Since then, collection points have been implemented.

Agenda Item 7

Page 28
ITEM 7

REPORT TO:

Kingston Schools Forum

DATE:

18 June 2019

SUBJECT:

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 2019/20 Finance Update

1. Purpose of Report
1.1.

To update the Forum on:


the current 2019/20 DSG grant allocation and its application to the Schools Budget in
2019/20;



the projected DSG position for the 2019/20 financial year;

2. Recommendations
2.1.

That the Forum:


notes the allocation for the DSG: Schools Block, Central School Services Block and
High Needs Block for the 2019/20 financial year;



notes the projected DSG position for the 2019/20 financial year

3. DSG Budget in the 2019/20 Financial Year
3.1

The DfE issued a revised DSG settlement in December 2018. The table below reflects the
latest Settlement from the DfE, there is no change to the overall grant allocation
compared to the figures reported to Forum in January. The following table breaks down
the allocation by agreed application and between the element that will be administered
by the local Authority and the proportion that will be recouped by the DfE for academies,
non-maintained independent special schools and further education colleges.

Page 29

4. Current Projected DSG for the 2019/20 financial year
4.1.

The borough is currently projecting spend of £145.627m on DSG funded education
services in 2019/20 compared to a grant allocation of £139.371m (including academies).
This represents a current projected overspend of £6.256m, including £1.2m for future
demand pressures throughout the remainder of the financial year. The future demand
figure is based on an expected increase of 120 EHCP’s from April 2019 to March 2020. The
funding is forecast to be spent as follows:

4.2.

The projections in the table above do not reflect the impact of future savings plans that
will be implemented during the remainder of the year as it is too early to reliably assess
the financial impact on projections. Savings of £4.7m are planned for 2019/20 of which
£1.7m have already been achieved and built in to the projection above. If fully achieved
the net position will improve to be an overspend of £3.3m this year.

4.3.

AfC, the Council and partners have been tasked with implementing recovery actions to
bring spend more into line with the grant allocation. An update on the strategy is detailed
in the 2018/19 outturn report elsewhere on this agenda. The SEN Transformation Plan
details a four year plan to bring the DSG fund back to a more balanced in year position.
The plan is currently being reviewed before it is resubmitted to the DfE as part of the new
requirement to submit a Deficit Recovery Plan in June each year where a DSG fund is
overspending by more than 1%. The latest plan is available on the following link
https://5f2fe3253cd1dfa0d089-

Page 30
bf8b2cdb6a1dc2999fecbc372702016c.ssl.cf3.rackcdn.com/uploads/ckeditor/attachments
/4610/SEND_Transformation_Plan_MARCH_19.pdf

4.4.

The number of EHCP’s grew by 144 in 2018/19 to a total of 1,201 at 31 March 2019. The
current total at 30 May 2019 is 1,217, an increase of 16 since the start of the new
financial year.

4.5.

Explanations for the projected position are detailed by block below:

Schools Block
4.6.

The Schools Block is currently projected to be on budget. Information relating to Business
Rates bills and growth fund requirements will materialise as the year progresses. Based
on current information these budgets are anticipated to be fully spent. Following
consultation in early 2019 the growth fund protection element has been changed to
exclude protection for permanent expansions. The protection for bulge classes will
remain.

Central School Services Block
4.7.

The Central School Services Block is currently projected to be on budget.

*Previously funded by Education Support Grant

Page 31

Early Years Block

4.8.

The Early Years Block is currently projected to underspend by £727k. Projections are
based on the latest available census information and historical trends of termly numbers.
The full year’s funding is subject to change following the draft and then final census
release in January 2020 and March 2020 respectively. This presents a challenge when
reporting the expected outturn for the Early Years Block where a change in take up of 100
either way would have an impact of close to £100k.

4.9.

The SEN Inclusion fund is expected to underspend by £78k in year (£128k underspend in
2018/19). This funding is allocated to support the inclusion of children with SEND,
promote early intervention and improve outcomes for children. Providers who support
children with SEND can request additional financial support from the fund. This financial
year represents the first full year under the revised scheme and whilst uptake is
anticipated to be higher than last financial year, there is still expected to be less than was
budgeted at this early stage in the year. The service are in the process of reviewing the
need for early years SEND funding with a view to identifying whether this money could be
spent effectively this year.
High Needs Block

4.10. Significant cost pressures continue to arise in the High Needs Block in 2019/20 with the
current position projecting spend of £30.2m against the budget allocation of £23.2m,
representing an overspend of £7m. This includes future demand of £1.2m which is based
on the latest average cost of new EHCP’s against the expected growth of 100 new EHCP’s
in year as well as an additional 20 as an additional contingency given the increased
growth seen in 2018/19. Activity is underway to implement the SEND Transformation
Plan which should assist in improving how efficiently high needs funding is applied.
£4.7m in savings were planned for 2019/20 of which £1.7m have been achieved to date
and built in to the projection. If fully achieved the high needs funding shortfall will reduce
to £4m by the year end.

Page 32
4.11. The main reasons for the pressures in the High Needs Block are detailed below:

Places in Special Schools and Units
4.12. Projected spend of £1.4m is funded from the high needs block for special schools and
unit places and is comparable to the 18/19 spend. A further £6m is forecast to be spent
on place funding recoupment for academies and colleges.
Pupils under the age of 16
4.13. The Borough is projecting to spend £10.223m on top up funding in 2019/20. This is an
increase of £1m when comparing to the 2018/19 outturn due to the reflection of full year
costs of new EHCP’s from the prior year and updated projections based on placement
changes. The number of top-ups is currently 669 (662 at 2018/19 outturn). Projections
and number of top-ups rise as the number of EHCPs increase during the year and it is
highly likely that these pressures will continue to increase throughout 2019/20. The cost
of top ups depend on rates set by schools. Where possible a request is being made for
top up levels to be frozen but AfC are limited in terms of what can be done when out of
borough schools increase charges.

Page 33

4.14. Expected spend on independent places totals £5.072m. This projection relates to all
independent and non-maintained placements for pupils under the age of sixteen in
2019/20. A proportion of the future demand allowance detailed in paragraph 4.9 relates
to independent placements. The numbers below include pupils across placement types
on Individual Programmes (e.g. Speech and Language Therapy, Physiotherapy,
Occupational Therapy and Applied Behaviour Analysis). The pupils and costs can be
further broken down as follows:

Page 34

Pupils over the age of 16
4.15. The Borough is forecasting to spend £4.3m on high needs education for pupils over the
age of 16. These learners are educated in school placements, independent special
provisions (ISP), further education settings and vocational training settings. The average
cost has reduced as the percentage of learners in college and apprenticeships continues
to increase and is currently 61% (55% April 2018).
4.16. Month two projections of learner numbers anticipate an increase of 26 since last financial
year. This has resulted in an increased spend projection when comparing to 2018/19,
however, it should be noted that the anticipated average cost has been controlled.

4.17. Post 16 spend in schools across Independent Placements, Mainstream, Academies,
Special Schools and Out of Borough is forecast to be £2.8m. This is split by schools
spending of £1.1m and independent spend of £1.66m.
4.18. The table below shows the breakdown of the schools total of £1.1m on 65 pupils:

Page 35
4.19. Post 16 spend in schools across Independent Placements is forecast to be £1.66m. This
spend can be broken down as follows:

4.20. Spend on Post 16 only providers across Independent Specialist Providers (ISP) and Further
Education (FE) is forecast to be £1.6m. Whilst numbers have significantly increased in FE,
the average costs have reduced since last financial year as a result of placement reviews
and pathway planning. Average costs in ISP and FE have reduced since 2017/18, with
more learners now placed in FE and Training. FE placements have positive outcomes for
young people and are a significantly lower cost than ISP. Vocational Training has minimal
cost to the Council.

Central High Needs Spend
4.21. The projected spend on centrally co-ordinated high needs services in 2019/20 is £1.1m.
This represents a projected overspend of £98k on approved budgets principally due to the
increased investment in the SEN Transformation Plan. The Invest to Save posts for the
SEN Transformation Plan include Annual Review Officers, Transition Officers and SEN
Commissioners.

Page 36
5.

2020/21 Budget Planning

5.1.

The table below outlines the budget timetable for 2020/21:

Month

Action

June
July

 Schools Forum Meeting – Tuesday 18th June 2019
 DfE / ESFA release the 2020/21 Funding Guidance for the Schools
Block and release of the draft Authority Proforma Tool
 Consultation on Central School Service Block and Schools Block dedelegation
 Schools Forum Meeting – Tuesday 17th September 2019
 Local funding formula consultation 1 is circulated and returned by
headteachers and governors (if required)
 DfE / ESFA release the 2020/21 Funding Guidance for High Needs
Block and Central School Services Block
 Schools Forum receive and consider feedback on the July consultation
 Schools Forum vote on de-delegated and central items subject to the
final grant allocations and guidance
 Schools Forum Meeting – Tuesday 19th November 2019
 Schools Forum receive and consider feedback on the September
consultation
 Schools Forum vote on the local schools funding formula
 DfE / ESFA release the 2020/21 Early Years Funding Guidance
 DfE / ESFA release provisional grant allocation figures
 Schools Forum Meeting – Tuesday 14th January 2020
 Schools Forum receive an update on grant allocations announced and
potential school by school impact
 Schools Forum considers the Early Years Funding Formula and
associated central items
 The Early Years Team consult with the early years sector on any
changes
 The Council formally considers the application of 2020/21 funding
and approves the 2020/21 budget and associated formulas (schools,
early years, central, high needs)
 Schools sent individual funding allocations

September

November

December
January

February

End of February

6.

Financial Implications

6.1.

The projected level of spend is not affordable for schools or the Council and therefore it is
important that all local partners continue to develop and implement plans to bring the
cost of high needs services more in line with the Government grant allocation. It is also
important that both schools and the Council continue to raise awareness of the funding
shortfall with Government and lobby for solutions. Significant progress has been made in
implementing the SEND Transformation Plan over the last 12 months. This activity is
already assisting in improving service delivery and making the limited funds that are
available for high needs stretch further. A significant funding gap still remains and so it is
important that the transformation continues over the coming years.

7. Contacts
Lucy Kourpas
Director of Finance and Resources
Achieving for Children

Page 37
lucy.kourpas@achievingforchildren.org

Page 38

Page 39

Agenda Item 8
ITEM 8

REPORT TO:

Kingston Schools Forum

DATE:

18 June 2019

SUBJECT:

2019-20 Scheme for Financing Schools

1. Purpose of Report
1.1.

To present to the Forum with an updated Scheme for Financing Schools

1.2.

To inform Forum of the directed revision made by the Secretary of State for Education
instructing an amendment to all authority schemes effective as of 2nd February 2019

1.3.

To inform Forum of the consultation results from its maintained schools.

2. Recommendations
2.1.

Discusses the revised scheme for financing schools attached at Appendix A

2.2.

Notes the directed revision to the scheme effective from 02nd February 2019

2.3.

Agrees the revised scheme for financing schools attached at Appendix A.

3. Scheme for financing schools 2019/20
3.1.

A revised scheme for financing schools is attached at appendix A. This contains all
directed revisions and updates from the latest Department for Education (DfE) document;
“Scheme for financing schools – Statutory guidance for local authorities (Issue 10)”. A
copy of the document is available on the DfE website. Page two of the document
contains a list of recommended revisions.

4. Directed Revision 2019
4.1.

The Secretary of State may by direction revise the whole or any part of the scheme from
such a date as may be specified in the direction. In order to make a directed revision to
schemes, the Secretary of State is required, by provisions in the School Standards and
Framework Act 1998, to consult the relevant local authorities and other interested
parties.

4.2.

Certain amendments have been made to the wording included in some of the directed
revisions, to reflect more recent policy positions. These are detail on page 2 of Appendix
A.

5. Proposed changes
5.1.

Following removal of the mechanism for the Local Authority to provide financial support
to schools (from 22 March 2018) the scheme has been updated to remove the option for
the Local Authority to loan money to schools.

Page 40
5.2.

The numbering within the scheme has been amended to mirror that now used in the
statutory guidance - Schemes for financing local authority maintained schools.

5.3. The scheme has been updated to simplify the definition for the calculation of permissible
level of contingency held within schools.

6. Consultation
6.1.

It is a requirement that, with the exception of the directed revision, maintained schools
be consulted on any change to the scheme and Schools Forum accepts the revised
scheme for financing schools on behalf of maintained schools.

6.2.

All maintained schools were consulted on the acceptance of changes to the scheme for
financing schools. The results are included in the table below:

6.3.

Number of
Schools

Percentage

Number of Schools who accept the changes
Number of Schools who do not accept the changes

12
0

100%
0%

Total number of schools responded

12

38%

Maintained school members of Forum, on behalf of its schools, are asked to approve the
scheme for financing schools with effect from 2nd February 2019.

7. Contacts
Louise Dutton
Management Accountant (Schools)
Achieving for Children
Louise.Dutton@achievingforchildren.org.uk
Lucy Kourpas
Director of Finance
Achieving for Children
Lucy.kourpas@achievingforchildren.org.uk

Page 41

Royal Borough of Kingston
upon Thames

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 42

This page deliberately left blank

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 43
Updates 2019:
The Department for Education no longer publishes the guide for the Scheme for Financing Schools
as a separate document but instead have created an HTML page containing the guide.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schemes-for-financing-schools/schemes-for-financinglocal-authority-maintained-schools
The numbering within the scheme has been amended to mirror that now used in the HTML page.

Version 10 contains a number of amendments made by the DfE, these are reflected in this version
of the scheme;
(1.2) Text added
“It is also possible for the Secretary of State to make directed revisions to schemes after
consultation. Such revisions become part of the scheme from the date of direction.”
(4.1.4) Text added
“Schools should ensure that anything that is portable and attractive; such as a camera, are
registered.”
(4.2) Text Amended
In line with previously issued documentation (CFR guidance 2008/9), to confirm that returns should
be on an Accruals basis.
(4.4) Title Changed
Efficiency and Value for Money retitled to School Resource Management
(4.4) Text Changed
“efficiencies” to “effective management of resources”
(4.10) Text Added
“Schools may seek advice on a range of compliant deals via ‘Buying for Schools’;”
(4.14) Text Added
“The reason for these provisions is to help meet responsibilities with the School Premises
(England) Regulations 2012, the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992, the
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, the Equality Act 2010, and the Building Regulations
2010.”
(4.16) Text Changed
“31 March 2013 and annually thereafter.” to “the end of the financial year.”
(7.1) Text Added
“However, where land is held by a charitable trust, it will be for the school’s trustees to determine
the use of any income generated by the land.”
(8.2.2) Text Changed
“Other expenditure incurred to secure resignations where the school has not sought or followed
Authority advice.” To “Other expenditure incurred to secure resignations where there is good
reason to charge this to the school (see Annex B).”

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 44
(15.6.3) Text Changed
“If this is still insufficient any remaining liabilities must be met by the Authority. The Governing Body
and the Authority should then implement an action plan to cease any unviable community activity
in agreement with the Authority.” To “If this is still insufficient the Governing Body and the Authority
should implement an action plan to cease any unviable community activity and the Governing body
should formulate a recovery plan to recover any remaining deficit”.
(15.7.1) Text changes
“Criminal Records Bureau” to “Disclosure and Barring”
(Annex A) Updated to Guide version
(Annex C) Updated to Guide version
(Appendix 6) Updated
Text Changes to simplify definition;
Original: “N.b. The base used to calculate the permissible level of contingency fund is the new
year’s budget share, e.g. balances as at 31st March 2018 will be compared to 10%, 16% or 30% of
the 2018/19 budget shares”.
Changed to: “N.b. The base used to calculate the permissible level of contingency fund is the new
year’s delegated budget, e.g. the total revenue carry forward balance as at 31st March 2019 will be
compared to 10%, 16% or 30% of the 2019/20 delegated budget, made up of the issued Delegated
Schools Block, Delegated Early Years Block, and Delegated High Needs Place Funding - Including
EY SRPP as notified to schools as their budget allocations.”
Text Removed
“Where Schools require cash support they will be required to provide an income and expenditure
projection and cash flow forecast. Guidance will be available from the AFC Schools Finance Team
in provided this information.
The School will be required to submit a formal detailed deficit recovery plan and a loan request.
AFC will provide advice/assurance to the authority on the need for the loan, repayment details and
the sustainability of the proposed recovery plan.”
Text Added
”AFC will work with the school to support the production of projected income and expenditure and
cash flow forecasts for the short, medium and long term.
The School will be required to submit a formal detailed deficit recovery plan. AFC will provide
advice/assurance to the authority on the sustainability of the proposed recovery plan “
Text Removed
“As part of the sign off, the Director of Finance will on behalf of the Council agree a loan with the
school using a standard loan agreement. This agreement will state the proposed recovery period /
repayment plan and will be signed on behalf of the Council by the Director of Finance (or his
nominee) and by the appropriate person(s) within the school.
Once the agreement is in place, any necessary cash advance(s) will be made by the Council to the
school, and Loan instalments and repayments are made directly by the school to the Council via
an Accounts Receivable / Payable instalment plan.”

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 45

Contents
1.

Summary
1.1
1.2

About the scheme and DfE guide
Directed Revisions

2.

The outline scheme

3.

Introduction
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7

4.

The funding framework
The role of the scheme
Application of the scheme to authority and maintained schools
Publication of the scheme
Revision of the scheme
Delegation of powers to the head teacher
Maintenance of schools

Financial Controls
4.1
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5
4.1.6
4.2
4.3
4.3.1
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12
4.13
4.14
4.15
4.16
4.17

General procedures
Application of financial control to schools
Provision of financial information and reports
Payment of salaries; payment of bills
Control of assets
Accounting Policies (including year-end procedures)
Writing off debts
Basis of Accounting
Submission of budget plan
Submission of Financial Forecasts
School Resource Management
Virement
Audit: General
Separate external audits
Audit of voluntary and private funds
Register of business interests
Purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements
Application of contracts to schools
Central funds and earmarking
Spending for the purposes of the school
Capital spending from budget shares
Notice of concern
Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS)
Fraud
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 46

5.

Instalments of the budget share and banking
arrangements
5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4
5.5
5.6
5.7
5.8
5.9

6.

The treatment of surpluses and deficit balances
arising in relation to budget shares
6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
6.5
6.6
6.7
6.8
6.9
6.10
6.10.1

7.

Income from lettings
Income from fees and charges
Income from fund-raising activities
Income from sale of assets
Administrative procedures for the collection of income
Purposes for which income may be used

The charging of School Budget Shares
8.1
8.2
8.3

9.

Right to carry forward surplus balances
Control on Surplus Balances
Interest on Surplus Balances
Obligation to carry forward deficit balances
Planning for deficit balances
Charging of interest on deficit balances
Writing off deficits
Balances of closing and replacement schools
Licensed deficits
Loan schemes
Credit union approach

Income
7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6

8.

Frequency of instalments
Proportion of budget share payable at each instalment
Interest clawback
Interest on late budget share payments
Budget shares for closing school
Bank and building society accounts
Restrictions on accounts
Borrowing by schools
Other provisions

General provisions
Charging of salaries at actual cost
Circumstances in which charges may be made

Taxation
9.1
9.2

Value Added Tax
CIS (Construction Industry Tax Scheme)
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 47

10. The provision of services and facilities by the
authority
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5

Provision of services from centrally retained budgets
Provision of services bought back from the authority using delegated
budgets
Packaging
Service level agreements
Teachers’ Pension

11. Private financial initiative (PFI) and public private
partnerships (PPP)
11.1

PFI & PPP

12. Insurance
12.1

Insurance cover

13. Miscellaneous
13.1
13.2
13.3
13.4
13.5
13.6
13.7
13.8
13.9
13.10
13.11

Right of access to information
Liability of governors
Governors’ expenses
Responsibility for legal costs
Health and safety
Right of attendance for Chief Finance Office
Special Educational Needs
Interest on late payments
‘Whistleblowing’
Child Protection
Redundancy and early retirement costs

14. Responsibility for repairs and maintenance
14.1
14.2
14.3

Responsibility for repairs and maintenance
Retained expenditure
Voluntary Aided schools

15. Community facilities
15.1
15.1.1
15.1.2
15.1.3
15.2
15.2.1

Consultation with the Authority: financial aspects
Consult the Authority
Approach the Authority
Responses
Funding Agreements: authority powers
Funding Agreements
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 48
15.2.2
15.3
15.3.1
15.3.2
15.4
15.4.1
15.4.2
15.4.3
15.5
15.5.1
15.6
15.6.1
15.6.2
15.6.3
15.7
15.7.1
15.8
15.8.1
15.9
15.9.1
15.9.2
15.10
15.10.1
15.10.2
15.10.3

Authority review
Other prohibitions, restrictions and limitations
Additional requirements
Additional restrictions
Supply of financial information
Supply of financial information
Supply of non-financial information
Adjustment to frequency of financial reports
Audit
Access
Treatment of income and surpluses
Retaining net income
Carrying forward retained net income
Treatment of deficits
Health and Safety
Disclosure and Barring Service checks
Insurance
Authority power to assess insurance arrangements
Taxation
Payment of income and National Insurance
Construction Industry Scheme
Banking
Separation of Accounts
Bank Accounts
Borrowing

Annex
A
B
C

The funding framework main features
Responsibility for redundancy and early retirement costs
Application of schemes for financing schools to the community facilities
power

Appendix
1
2
3
4
5
6

7
8

Schools List
Approved Banking Institutions
School Borrowing
Insurance
Budget Monitoring and Submission Schedule
Supplementary Information:
De minimis levels
School Budget Share Carry forward Balance recommended percentages
School Deficit Process
EU Contract Thresholds
Document Retention
Responsibility for Revenue and Capital Maintenance & Improvement

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 49

Chapter

1
1.1

Summary

About the Scheme and DfE guide
The scheme reflects issue 10 of the statutory guidance from the Department for Education
(DfE) for local authorities on the scheme for financing schools. It relates to Section 48 of the
Schools Standards and Framework Act 1998 and Schedule 14 to the act.
Local Authorities are required to publish schemes for financing schools setting out the
financial relationship between them and the schools they maintain. The DfE guidance lists
the provisions which a local authority’s scheme must, should or may include.
In making any changes to the scheme, the local authority must consult all maintained
schools in the area and receive the approval of the members of schools forum representing
maintained schools. The authority must take the DfE guidance into account when revising
the scheme in consultation with schools forum.

1.2

Directed revisions
The Secretary of State may by direction revise the whole or any part of the scheme as from
such date as may be specified in the direction. In order to make a directed revision the
Secretary of State is required, by provision in the Schools Standards and Framework Act
1998, to consult the relevant Local Authorities and other interested parties.
It is also possible for the Secretary of State to make directed revisions to schemes after
consultation. Such revisions become part of the scheme from the date of direction.

There are no directed revision within version 10.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 50

Chapter

2

The outline scheme

Within the Scheme and Guidance the following references apply:


“the act” is the School Standards and Framework Act 1998



“the authority” is the local authority



“the regulations” are the School and Early Years Finance (England) (No. 2)
Regulations 2018

The regulations state that schemes must deal with the following matters:


the carrying forward from one funding period to another of surpluses and deficits
arising in relation to schools’ budget shares



amounts which may be charged against schools’ budget shares



amounts received by schools which may be retained by their governing bodies and
the purposes for which such amounts may be used



the imposition, by or under the scheme, of conditions which must be complied with
by schools in relation to the management of their delegated budgets and of sums
made available to governing bodies by the authority which do not form part of
delegated budgets, including conditions prescribing financial controls and
procedures



terms on which services and facilities are provided by the authority for schools
maintained by them



the payment of interest by or to the authority



the times at which amounts equal in total to the school’s budget share are to be
made available to governing bodies and the proportion of the budget share to be
made available at each such time



the virement between budget heads within the delegated budget



circumstances in which a local authority may delegate to the governing body the
power to spend any part of the authority’s non-schools education budget or schools
budget in addition to those set out in section 49(4)(a) to (c) of the 1998 act



the use of delegated budgets and of sums made available to a governing body by
the local authority which do not form part of delegated budgets



borrowing by governing bodies
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 51



the banking arrangements that may be made by governing bodies



a statement as to the personal liability of governors in respect of schools’ budget
shares having regard to section 50(7) of the 1998 act



a statement as to the allowances payable to governors of a school which does not
have a delegated budget in accordance with the scheme made by the authority for
the purposes of section 519 of the 1996 act



the keeping of a register of any business interests of the governors and the head
teacher



the provision of information by and to the governing body



the maintenance of inventories of assets



plans of a governing body’s expenditure



a statement as to the taxation of sums paid or received by a governing body



insurance



the use of delegated budgets by governing bodies so as to satisfy the authority’s
duties imposed by or under the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974



the provision of legal advice to a governing body



funding for child protection issues



how complaints by persons working at a school or by school governors about
financial management or financial propriety at the school will be dealt with and to
whom such complaints should be made



expenditure incurred by a governing body in the exercise of the power conferred by
section 27 of the 2002 act

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 52
Chapter

3
3.1

Introduction

The funding framework
The funding framework which replaces Local Management of Schools is based on the
legislative provisions in sections 45-53 of the School Standards and Framework (SSAF) Act
1998.
Under this legislation, the local authority determines the size of their Schools Budget and
Local Authority Budget – although the Secretary of State has power to require an Authority
to increase its Schools Budget to a prescribed level. The categories of expenditure which
fall within the two budgets are prescribed under regulations made by the Secretary of State,
but included within the two, taken together, is all expenditure, direct and indirect, on an
authority's maintained schools. Local authorities may retain funding centrally in the Schools
Budget for purposes defined in regulations made by the Secretary of State under s.45A of
the Act. The amounts to be retained centrally are decided by the authority concerned,
subject to any limits or conditions prescribed by the Secretary of State. The balance of the
Schools Budget left after deduction of centrally retained funds is termed the Individual
Schools Budget (ISB). Expenditure items in the Local Authority budget must be retained
centrally (although earmarked allocations may be made to schools).
Local authorities may retain an unallocated reserve but must otherwise distribute the ISB
amongst their maintained schools using a formula, which accords with regulations made by
the Secretary of State, and enables the calculation of a budget share for each maintained
school. This budget share is then delegated to the Governing Body of the school
concerned, unless the school is a new school, which has not yet received a delegated
budget, or the right to a delegated budget has been suspended in accordance with s.51 of
the Act. The financial controls within which delegation works are set out in a scheme made
by the Authority in accordance with s.48 of the Act and approved by the Secretary of State.
All revisions to the scheme must be approved by Schools Forum, though the authority may
apply to the Secretary of State for approval in the event of Forum rejecting a proposal or
approving it subject to modifications that are not acceptable to the authority.
Subject to provisions of the scheme, Governing Bodies of schools may spend budget
shares for the purposes of their school. They may also spend budget shares on any
additional purposes prescribed by the Secretary of State in regulations made under s.50.
The Authority may suspend a school's right to a delegated budget if the provisions of the
school financing scheme (or rules applied by the scheme) have been substantially or
persistently breached, or if the budget share has not been managed satisfactorily. There is
a right of appeal to the Secretary of State. A school's right to a delegated budget share may
also be suspended for other reasons (s.17 of the SSAF Act 1998) but in that case there is
no right of appeal.
The Authority is obliged to publish each year, under s.251 of the Apprenticeships, Skills,
Children and Learning Act 2009, a Budget Statement setting out details of its planned
Schools Budget and Local Authority Budget, showing the amounts to be centrally retained,
the budget share for each school, the formula used to calculate those budget shares, and
the detailed calculation for each school. After each financial year the Authority must publish
a statement showing out-turn expenditure at both central level and for each school, and the
balances held in respect of each school.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 53
The detailed publication requirements for financial statements and for schemes are set out
in regulations, but each school must receive a copy of the scheme and any amendment,
and each year's budget and out-turn statements so far as they relate to that school or
central expenditure.
Regulations also require the Authority to publish their scheme and any revisions to it on a
website accessible to the general public, by the date that any revisions come in to force.
3.2

The role of the scheme
This scheme sets out the financial relationship between the Local Authority and/or its
designate (Achieving for Children) and all of the maintained schools that it funds. It contains
requirements relating to financial management and associated issues, binding on both the
Authority and on schools.

3.3

Application of the scheme to authority and maintained schools
The scheme applies to all community, nursery, special, voluntary, foundation (including
Trust), foundation special schools and pupil referral units (PRUs). A list of the
establishments covered by the scheme is attached at Appendix 1.

3.4

Publication of the scheme
The current scheme will be available on the authority’s website which is accessible to the
general public. Covered schools will be notified of any revisions.

3.5

Revision of the scheme
Any proposed revisions to the scheme will be the subject of consultation with the governing
body and the head teacher of every school maintained by the Authority before they are
submitted to Schools Forum for their approval by the members of the Forum representing
those schools.

3.6

Delegation of powers to the head teacher
Governing Bodies must consider the extent to which it wishes to delegate its financial
powers to the head teacher and must record its decision, and any revisions, in the minutes
of the Governing Body.
Under the Education (School Government) (Terms of Reference) (England) Regulations
2000, budget plans must be considered by Governing Body.

3.7

Maintenance of schools
The Authority is responsible for maintaining the schools covered by the scheme, and this
includes the duty of defraying all the expenses of maintaining them (except in the case of a
voluntary aided school where some of the expenses are, by statute, payable by the
Governing Body). Part of the way the Authority maintains a school is through the funding
scheme, put in place under sections 45 to 53 of the Schools Standards and Framework Act
1998.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 54
Chapter

4

Financial Controls

4.1

General procedures

4.1.1

Application of financial controls to schools
Schools must comply with the Authority’s requirements in the management and monitoring
of their delegated budgets. This includes those requirements within this scheme and also
those requirements contained in more detailed publications referred to in this scheme.
Schools are expected to comply with any reasonable request from the local authority.

4.1.2

Provision of financial information and reports
In order that the designated officer can fulfil their obligations under Section 151 of the Local
Government Act 1972 to “make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial
affairs” schools must comply with the budget monitoring and submission schedule detailed
in Appendix 5.

4.1.3

Payment of salaries and payment of bills
Salaries and wages will be paid through the Authority’s own bank account unless a
separate contract has been agreed by a school with an outside bureau in which case
separate arrangements will have to be reached between the bureau, the Authority and the
school.
Bills payable by non-general ledger schools will be paid via local bank accounts in
accordance with arrangements approved by the Director of Children’s Services.

4.1.4

Control of Assets
Each school must maintain an inventory of its movable non-capital assets in a form agreed
by the local authority for any asset worth over £1,000. For assets worth less than £1,000
schools must keep an inventory but are free to determine the format. Schools should
ensure that anything that is portable and attractive; such as a camera, are registered.
Disposal of assets purchased from the schools delegated budget must be approved by the
Governing Body and comply with any local authority procedures.

4.1.5

Accounting Policies (including year-end procedures)
All schools must abide by procedures issued by the local authority on accounting policies
and year-end procedures.

4.1.6

Writing off debts
The Governing Body is empowered to right off debts providing the debt has been
outstanding in excess of six months and the Governing Body is certain the debt is
unrecoverable. The Director of Children’s Services will write to schools each year asking for
details of debts written off and this will be reported to the appropriate committee of the
Authority.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 55

4.2

Basis of accounting
Schools accounts furnished to the Authority must be on an accruals basis. But schools
remain free to use whichever financial software they choose and may work on either an
accruals or cash accounting basis, but returns must be provided in the output required by
the Authority.

4.3

Submission of budget plans
A school’s own financial information requirements will be detailed, reflecting the many
possible sub-headings, departments and cost centres between which funds may be
allocated. However, the Authority’s requirement is only for summarised information in the
form of the Standard School Budget Plan.
Each school must comply with the schedule of submission found in Appendix 5. The budget
plan must be approved by either the Governing Body or finance committee and signed by
both the Headteacher and the Chair of Governors or Chair of the finance committee.
If a school considers they are likely to have to set a deficit budget they must notify the
Director of Children’s Services as soon as possible and not later than the deadline date
specified in Appendix 5. This will allow ongoing discussion between the school and the
Authority in order to agree a recovery plan.
For the Authority to manage it responsibilities to “make arrangements for the proper
administration of their financial affairs” (Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972), a
school may be required to provide further information to support their Standard School
Budget Plan.

4.3.1

Submission of Financial Forecasts
Schools are required to submit a financial forecast for the multi-year period specified in
Appendix 5. This will be used to confirm schools are undertaking effective financial planning
as well as evidence to support the authority’s assessment of Schools Financial Value
Standards (SFVS) and as part of the authorities balance control mechanism. The authority
will provide as much information as is available to assist schools in projecting income for
future years.

4.4

School Resource Management
Schools must seek to achieve effective management of resources and value for money, to
optimise the use of their resources and to invest in teaching and learning, taking into
account the Authority’s purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements.
It is for heads and governors to determine at school level how to secure better value for
money.
There are significant variations in efficiency between similar schools, so it’s important for
schools to review their current expenditure, compare it to other schools, and think about
how to make improvements.

4.5

Virement
Schools can vire freely between budget headings and accounts within their budget shares
see 1.5. The revisions should be shown in the reports submitted to the Authority as in 2.1.2.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 56
4.6

Audit: General
For clarity, schools within the audit regime determined by the authority as regards internal
audit, and the authority’s external audit regime as determined by the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014, are required to co-operate with them, This includes a requirement
to provide access to the school’s records for either internal or external auditors.
The local authority shall be responsible for maintaining a continuous internal audit of the
financial records, operations and systems of each school. Schools are also subject to
inspection by the Authority’s external auditors. Schools must co-operate with both internal
and external auditors as and when required.
Schools must ensure that they maintain an appropriate level of audit trail for all
documentation and retain such documentation for a period of five years. Schools should
make every effort to comply with any reasonable requests from either internal or external
auditors.

4.7

Separate external audits
A school’s Governing Body may also, if it wishes, spend part of its budget share to obtain
external audit certification of any accounts containing school budget share funding. This
would be in addition to the Authority's own internal and external audit process.

4.8

Audit of voluntary and private funds
Schools must provide appropriate audit certificates to the audit section on request in
respect of voluntary and private funds held by them and of the accounts of any trading
organisations or company controlled by the school. However the authority will not audit
such funds.

4.9

Register of business interests
Each school’s Governing Body is required to establish a register of business interests for
each member of the Governing Body and the head teacher. The register should list any
business interests they or their immediate families have. The register should be kept up to
date and should be reviewed at least annually. The register should be available for
inspection by governors, staff, parents and the Authority.

4.10

Purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements
Each school must abide by the Authority’s financial regulations and standing orders
regarding purchasing, tendering and contracting supplies and services.
Schools should also assess in advance, where relevant, the health and safety competence
of contractors, taking account of the Authority’s policies and procedures.
The financial regulations and standing orders will not apply where they would require
schools:


to do anything incompatible with any of the provisions of the scheme, or any statutory
provision, or any EU Procurement Directive;



to seek Authority officer countersignature for any contracts for goods or services for a
value below £60,000 in any one year;



to select suppliers only from an approved list (Schools may wish to nominate suppliers
for inclusion on lists of approved suppliers);
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 57



to seek fewer than three tenders in respect of any contract with a value exceeding
£10,000 in any one year.

Schools may seek advice on a range of compliant deals via ‘Buying for Schools’;
( https://www.gov.uk/guidance/buying-for-schools )
4.11

Application of contracts to schools
Schools have the right to opt out of Authority arranged contracts.
All existing contracts have been entered into freely by schools and are paid for from
delegated budgets.
The Governing Body should be aware that they are empowered under paragraph 3 of
schedule 1 to the Education Act 2002 to enter into contracts and in most cases they do so
on behalf of the authority as maintainer of the school and the owner of the funds in the
budget share. Be clear as to when they enter into contracts made solely on behalf of the
governing body, when the governing body has clear statutory obligations -for example,
contracts made by aided or foundation schools for the employment of staff.

4.12

Central funds and earmarking
The Authority will make sums available to schools from central funds, in the form of
allocations that are additional to and separate from schools’ budget share. These will be
subject to conditions as to the purpose for which these additional funds can be used. In
certain circumstances virement is acceptable (excluding specific grant items) between
different types of earmarked funding. All these funds must be accounted for separately from
the schools budget share. Any earmarked funds not spent in-year must be repaid to the
Authority, or within the period which schools are allowed to use the funding if different.

4.13

Spending for the purposes of the school
Although s.50(3) allows governing bodies to spend budget shares for the purposes of the
school, this is subject to regulations made by the Secretary of State and any provisions of
the scheme. As well as the various standard provisions LAs may wish to propose their own
restrictions on this freedom, arising from local circumstances. By virtue of section 50(3A)
(which came into force on 1st April 2011), amounts spent by governing bodies on
community facilities or services under section 27 of the Education Act 2002 will be
treated as if spent for any purposes of the school.
Under s.50(3)(b) the Secretary of State may prescribe additional purposes for which
expenditure of the budget share may occur. He has done so in the School Budget Shares
(Prescribed Purposes)(England) Regulations 2002 (SI 2002/378), which have been
amended by the School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes)(England)(Amendment)
Regulations 2010 (SI 2010/190).These allow schools to spend their budgets on pupils who
are on the roll of other maintained schools or academies.

4.14

Capital spending from budget shares
In addition to any capital allocation made available by the LA outside a school's delegated
budget share, governing bodies are permitted to use their budget shares to meet the cost of
capital expenditure on the school premises. This includes expenditure by the governing
body of a Voluntary Aided school on work that is their responsibility under paragraph 3 of
Schedule 3 of the School Standards and Framework Act (SSFA).
See Appendix 6 for any additional limitation.
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 58

The LA requires any capital spending from budget shares to be notified to the Director of
Children’s Services. Where the premises are owned by the LA, the governing body must
first seek the consent of the LA to the proposed works, but such consent can be withheld
only on health and safety grounds.
The reason for these provisions is to help meet responsibilities with the School Premises
(England) Regulations 2012, the Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations
1992, the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, the Equality Act 2010, and the
Building Regulations 2010.
On an annual basis schools will be required to report to the Authority on how they intend to
spend their devolved capital and any other funds available for capital works.
4.15

Notice of Concern
The authority may issue a notice of concern to the governing body of any school
it maintains where, in the opinion of the Director of Children’s Services, the school has
failed to comply with any provisions of the scheme, or where actions need to be taken to
safeguard the financial position of the authority or the school.
Such a notice will set out the reasons and evidence for it being made and may place on the
governing body restrictions, limitations or prohibitions in relation to the management of
funds delegated to it. These may include:


insisting that relevant staff undertake appropriate training to address any
identified weaknesses in the financial management of the school



insisting that an appropriately trained/qualified person chairs the finance
committee of the governing body



placing more stringent restrictions or conditions on the day to day
financial management of a school than the scheme requires for all
schools – such as the provision of monthly accounts to the authority



insisting on regular financial monitoring meetings at the school attended
by authority officers



requiring a governing body to buy into an authority’s financial
management systems



imposing restrictions or limitations on the manner in which a school
manages extended school activity funded from within its delegated
budget share – for example by requiring a school to submit income
projections and/or financial monitoring reports on such activities.

The notice will clearly state what these requirements are and the way in which, and the time
by which such requirements must be complied with in order for the notice to be withdrawn.
It will also state the actions that the authority may take where the governing body does not
comply with the notice.
4.16

Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS)
All local authority maintained schools (including nursery schools and pupil referral units
(PRUs) that have a delegated budget) must demonstrate compliance with the Schools
Financial Value Standard (SFVS) and complete the assessment form on an annual basis. It
is for the school to determine at which time of the year they wish to complete the form.
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 59

Governors must demonstrate compliance through the submission of the SFVS assessment
form signed by the Chair of Governors. The form must include a summary of remedial
actions with a clear timetable, ensuring that each action has a specified deadline and an
agreed owner. Governors must monitor the progress of these actions to ensure that
all actions are cleared within specified deadlines.
All maintained schools with a delegated budget must submit the form to the Authority
before the end of the financial year.
4.17

Fraud
All schools must have a robust system of controls to safeguard themselves against
fraudulent or improper use of public money and assets.
The Governing Body and Headteacher must inform all staff of school policies and
procedures related to fraud and theft, the controls in place to prevent them; and the
consequences of breaching these controls. This information must also be included in
induction for new school staff and governors.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 60
Chapter

5

5.1

Instalments of the
budget share and
banking arrangements

Frequency of instalments
The school’s appropriate budget share will be advanced into the schools bank accounts in
accordance with their selection in 5.2

5.2

Proportion of budget share payable at each instalment
The following options are available:



Equal monthly instalments of total budget share i.e. including employee costs
Monthly instalments (one of 4% and12 of 8%) of non-employee budget share.

Further details of these options are included in the appendix to the Schools Financial
Regulations and Standing Orders
5.3

Interest clawback
The Authority currently charges no interest for budget share instalments paid in advance.
The Authority will make no deduction for potential loss of corporate interest on instalments
made to schools with a non-consolidated bank account.

5.4

Interest on late budget share payments
The Authority will add interest to late payments of budget share instalments on any school
non-consolidated bank account, where such late payment is the result of Authority error.
For schools within the consolidated bank account scheme, no interest is paid since interest
is paid on year end balances. The interest rate used will be the Bank of England base rate.

5.5

Budget shares for closing schools
Schools where approval for closure has been given, may have their estimated nonemployee budget share advanced on a monthly basis until closure.

5.6

Bank and building society accounts
All schools will have their budget share as appropriate (see 5.1) paid into an external bank
account with a financial institution approved by the Director Children’s Services. Any
interest earned from such an account will be retained by the school. The account must be
in the name of the school. Money paid by the Authority and held in such accounts remains
Authority property until spent. The list of approved institutions is attached at Appendix 2.
Should a school open an external bank account, the Authority, if the school desires, will
transfer immediately to that account an amount agreed by both the school and the Authority
as the estimated surplus balance held by the Authority in respect of the school’s budget
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 61
share. Any subsequent correction will be made when the accounts for the relevant year are
closed.
Should a school open an external bank account, the Authority must be named as the owner
of the account, be entitled to receive statements on request and, in the event of the
Authority withdrawing a schools right to a delegated budget, control of the account is
transferred to the Authority.
Further details of these options are included in the Schools Bank Account Scheme which is
appended to the Schools Financial Regulations and Standing Orders.
5.7

Restrictions on accounts
See Schools Financial Regulations.

5.8

Borrowing by schools
Schools must not enter into any borrowing agreement unless the written permission of the
Secretary of State has been obtained. This provision relates to borrowing from external
financial institutions and not to internal loan schemes.
Schools are not allowed the use of credit cards and overdrafts, which are regarded as
borrowing. However, they may use government approved procurement cards, as these
cards can be a useful means of facilitating electronic purchase.
Schools are allowed the use of any scheme that the Secretary of State has said is available
to schools without specific approval. An up to date list is available from the Government
website.

5.8.1

Loans
Schools may only borrow money with the prior written permission of the Secretary of State.
For Government approved schemes this permission is deemed to already have been given.
The school must inform the local authority of their intention prior to any loan application to a
government approved scheme. Schools may borrow via a local authority internal loan
scheme.

5.8.2

Overdrafts
Schools are not allowed the use of an overdraft on any school account (either an official or
unofficial account) as this would be regarded as borrowing. Schools should not apply for an
overdraft but where one is automatically provided, it is the responsibility of the school to
ensure the facility is not accessed. Schools should inform the local authority immediately
upon accessing an overdraft or going overdrawn on any school account.

5.8.3

Debit Card
Schools are not allowed the use of a debit card where they have a bank account
consolidated to the Authority’s account. A School with an external bank account must
inform the local authority of their intention to apply for a debit card and obtain approval of
the controls for the use of the debit card facility prior to applying to their bank account
provider.

5.8.4

Credit Card

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 62
Schools are not allowed the use of a credit card. Schools may instead apply via the local
authority for a government approved procurement card.
5.8.5

Procurement Card
Schools may apply via the local authority for a government approved procurement card.
Schools must comply with the local authority guidelines for the use of a procurement card.

5.8.6

Charge Card
Schools are permitted to apply for a charge card with local authority permission on the
understanding that no interest occurs as a result of any transaction. Schools must ensure
that the balance is paid in full at the end of each billing period. Schools must seek
permission of the local authority prior to making an application for a charge card and obtain
approval from the local authority of the controls for the use of the charge card facility.
Schools must inform the local authority immediately in the event that interest is charged to
any transaction.

5.8.7

Trade Account Card
Schools are permitted to apply for a trade account card with local authority permission on
the understanding that no interest occurs as a result of any transaction and a suitable
business case is provided. Schools must ensure that the balance is paid in full at the end of
each billing period. Schools must seek permission of the local authority prior to making an
application for a trade account card and obtain approval from the local authority of the
controls for the use of the trade account card facility. Schools must inform the local
authority immediately in the event that interest is charged to any transaction. A trade
account does not remove the requirement for the school to undertake appropriate checks
against a supplier.

5.8.8

Leases
Schools may not enter into a ‘finance lease’ or ‘hire-purchase’ unless the written permission
of the Secretary of State has been obtained, since these are classified as borrowing.
School may enter into an ‘operating lease’, as defined by the Local Authorities (Capital
Finance) Regulations 1997 as these do not count as borrowing. The definition of an
‘operating lease’ is summarised as follows.

5.8.9



The asset under lease must have a residual value at the end of the agreed lease period
of at least 10% of its original cost.



The lease cannot transfer ownership of the asset to the lessee (at any time during the
agreed lease period or a renewal or continuation period).



The lease cannot provide for renewal or continuation beyond the initial term at less than
the “market value” for this provision at the commencement of the secondary
arrangement.



The lessee cannot share in the sale proceeds of the asset under lease.

Removal of permissions
The local authority has the right to remove permission for a school to hold a debit card,
procurement card, charge card or trade account card(s) where a school has infringed on
any of the criteria for holding any card, including breaches of their own controls or
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 63
infringements relating to loans, overdrafts or leases. Schools should ensure that all internal
controls on cards are reviewed annually and updated as necessary. All procedural changes
need to be agreed with the local authority.
5.9

Other provisions
See Appendix 3.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 64
Chapter

6

6.1

Treatment of surplus and
deficit balances arising in
relation to budget shares

Right to carry forward revenue surplus balances
Schools will be allowed to carry forward from one financial year to the next any underspend
relative to the schools budget share plus/minus any balance brought forward from the
previous year, subject to controls on surplus balances (see below). A schools balance at 1
April of any financial year is equal to the balance as at 31 March in the previous financial
year.
Any surpluses should be earmarked for specific future needs to ensure that pupil’s benefit
from a planned approach to spending that does not deprive them of resources in a given
year. These earmarked surpluses should be clearly linked to the School Development Plan.

6.2

Control on Surplus Balances
The arrangements for surplus balances held by schools as permitted under this scheme
have been revised.
As schools are moving towards greater autonomy, the Authority will not constrain schools
from making early efficiencies to support their medium term budgeting in a tighter financial
climate, and thus schools will not be burdened by bureaucracy.
Schools where either the Local Authority or Department for Education deem the surplus
balance to be excessive, may be required to comment on the rationale employed. The
authority may reclaim balances from schools where they deem them excessive. Appendix 6
gives details of the percentages used as a guide for each education phase.

6.3

Interest on Surplus Balances
Schools that have a bank account consolidated to the Authority’s account will attract
interest on any surplus balance at the year end.
The Interest rate will be the Treasury Management 7 day rate.

6.4

Obligation to carry forward deficit balances
If a school is in deficit (revenue and/or capital) on the 31 March in any one financial year,
that deficit will be carried forward to the following financial year. A schools deficit balance at
1 April of any financial year is equal to the deficit balance as at 31 March in the previous
financial year.

6.5

Planning for deficit balances

6.5.1

Deficit plans (setting a deficit revenue budget)
Governing Bodies must not set a deficit budget plan except with the express permission of
the Director of Children’s Services, and only when:
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 65


the school is due for closure; or



the school has had a reduction in their gross School Budget Share of 5% or greater
from one financial year to the next; or



other exceptional circumstances and only where the following procedures are followed:
1. a recovery plan is agreed between the Governing Body of the school and the
Director of Children’s Services which consists of:


details of the measures that will be taken to bring the school back into a
balanced budget situation



a forecast of future pupil numbers, school expenditure and school budget shares



forecast deficits at the end of each financial year and a timescale for brining the
budget into balance, usually not more than 3 years

2. monthly budget monitoring reports are provided to the Director Children’s Services
in a format specified
3. quarterly budget monitoring reports are provided to the Director of Children’s
Services
4. the Director of Children’s Services is consulted before any change to points of
responsibility or the permanent staffing establishment
5. any other such arrangements as the Director of Children’s Services may require for
the regular joint review of the plan.
The Authority will provide appropriate management support to any school in deficit.
The withdrawal of delegation may be considered if the terms of the recovery plan are not
fulfilled.
More details are available in Appendix 6: Supplementary Information.
6.5.2

Deficit revenue balances (carryovers)
Unforeseen circumstances in year may result in a projected end of year deficit (carryover).
In such instances the school should report this to the Director Children’s Services as soon
as they become aware of such a situation.
The Authority’s own monitoring procedures may also highlight situations of potential end of
year deficit (carryover).
If such unforeseen circumstances do result in an end of year deficit balance (carryover),
any deficit will be carried forward to the following financial year and schools are required to:


report to the Director of Children’s Services on the reasons for the end of year deficit
(carryover);



if appropriate, detail the management arrangements in place to ensure there is no
repeat of the situation;

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 66


detail the measures that will be taken to bring the school back into a balanced budget
situation;



any other such arrangements as the Director of Children’s Services may require.

If a school is unable to bring the budget back into balance when setting the following year’s
budget it will have to provide a recovery plan (section 6.5.1).
The end of year balance is defined for this purpose as the school end of year balance (as
notified to the school by the Director Children’s Services).
6.6

Charging of interest on deficit balances
The Authority will not charge interest on deficit balances.

6.7

Writing off deficits
The Authority cannot write off the deficit balance of any school.

6.8

Balances of closing and replacement schools
The Director of Children’s Services in conjunction with the Governing Body of a closing
school will ensure that the most efficient use is made of resources in the period prior to the
closure of a school.
The balance (whether surplus or deficit) in respect of a school that closes or amalgamates
will revert to the Authority.
Where in the funding period, a school has been established or is subject to a prescribed
alteration as a result of the closure of a school, a local authority may add an amount to the
budget share of the new or enlarged school to reflect all or part of the unspent budget share
(including any surplus carried over from previous funding periods) of the closing school for
the funding period in which it closes.

6.9

Licensed deficits
The Authority does not operate a licensed deficit scheme.

6.10

Loan schemes
Loans will only be used to assist schools in spreading the cost over more than one year of
large one-off individual items of capital nature that have a benefit to the school lasting more
than one financial or academic year. Loans will not be used as a means of funding a deficit
that has arisen because a school’s recurrent costs exceed its current income. If loans are
made to fund a deficit and a school subsequently converts to academy status, the
Secretary of State will consider using the power under paragraph 13(4)(d) of schedule 1 to
the Academies Act 2010 to make a direction to the effect that such a loan does not transfer,
either in full or part, to the new Academy school.

6.10.1 Credit union approach
The Authority does not currently recognise a credit union approach. Schools wishing to
adopt this approach should contact the Director of Children’s Services.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 67
Chapter

7
7.1

Income

Income from lettings
Schools may retain all income from lettings of the school premises that would otherwise
accrue to the LA, subject to any alternative provisions arising from any joint-use or (Private
Finance Initiative) agreement. Schools are permitted to cross-subsidise lettings for
community and voluntary use with income from other lettings, provided the governing body
is satisfied that this will not interfere to a significant extent with the performance of any
duties imposed on them by the Education Acts, including the requirement to conduct the
school with a view to promoting high standards of educational achievement.
Income from lettings of schools premises are not payable in to voluntary or private funds
held by the school. However, where land is held by a charitable trust, it will be for the
school’s trustees to determine the use of any income generated by the land.
Schools are required to have regard to any directions issued by the LA as to the use of
school premises owned by the LA, as permitted under the School Standards and
Framework Act 1998 for various categories of schools.

7.1.1

Private lettings
All schools are recommended to produce a hiring and letting policy which is adopted by the
Governing Body.
Any income raised through private lettings must be paid into the schools main bank
account.
Private lettings should not displace agreed community lettings. However, schools may find
it advantageous to have private lettings take place alongside their community lettings to
reduce costs.

7.1.2

Use of schools for elections
Under elections legislation, community and voluntary aided schools are obliged to make
accommodation available for polling stations. The Authority policy is that, if at all possible,
schools should remain open on the day of the election.
Schools are reimbursed directly by the Authority for the costs incurred in making
accommodation available for polling stations.

7.1.3

Use of schools for emergency plan
Any costs incurred by the school for emergency plan purposes will be reimbursed by the
Authority.

7.2

Income from fees and charges
Schools can retain income from fees and charges except where a service is provided by
the Authority from centrally retained funds. However, schools should have regard to any
policy statements on charging produced by the Authority.

7.3

Income from fund-raising activities

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 68
Schools will be allowed to retain income from fund-raising activities.
7.4

Income from the sale of assets
Schools may retain the proceeds from the sale of assets except in cases where the asset
was purchased with non-delegated funds, in which case the Authority will decide whether
the school should retain the proceeds. If the asset is land or buildings forming part of the
school premises and is owned by the Authority the proceeds must be paid to the Authority.

7.5

Administrative procedures for the collection of income
The procedures for collection of income are laid down in the Schools Financial Regulations
and Standing Orders. These include guidance on charging of VAT on income.

7.6

Purposes for which income may be used
Income from sale of assets purchased with delegated funds must only be spent for the
purposes of the school.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 69
Chapter

8

8.1

The Charging of school
budget shares

General provisions
A school's budget share may only be charged by the Authority without the Governing
Body’s permission in the circumstances permitted by this scheme (see 8.3 below). The
Authority will consult the schools as to the intention to so charge and will notify schools
when it has been done.

8.2

Charging of salaries at actual cost
Where a school hasn’t elected to administer their own staff salaries via external payroll
providers; the Authority will charge salaries of school based staff to school budget shares at
actual cost.

8.3

Circumstances in which charges may be made

8.3.1

Where premature retirement costs have been incurred without the prior written agreement
of the Authority to bear such costs (the amount chargeable being only the excess over any
amount agreed by the Authority).

8.3.2

Other expenditure incurred to secure resignations where there is good reason to charge
this to the school (see Annex B).

8.3.3

Awards by courts and industrial tribunals against the Authority or out of court settlements,
arising from action or inaction by the Governing Body contrary to Authority advice.

8.3.4

Expenditure by the Authority in carrying out health and safety work or capital expenditure
for which the Authority is liable where funds have been specifically delegated to the
Governing Body for such work, but the Governing Body has failed to carry out the required
work.

8.3.5

Expenditure by the Authority incurred in making good defects in building work funded by
capital expenditure from budget shares, where the premises are owned by the Authority or
the school has voluntary controlled status.

8.3.6

Expenditure incurred by the Authority in insuring its own interests in a school where funding
has been delegated but the school has failed to demonstrate that it has arranged cover at
least as good as that which would have been arranged by the Authority (see also 12.1).

8.3.7

Recovery of monies due from a school for services provided to the school, where a dispute
over the monies due has been referred to a disputes procedure set out in a service level
agreement and the result is that monies are owed by the school to the Authority.

8.3.8

Recovery of penalties imposed on the Authority by the board of Inland Revenue, the
Contributions Agency, HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC), Teachers’ Pensions, the
Environment Agency or other regulatory authorities as a result of schools negligence.

8.3.9

Correction of Authority errors in calculating charges to a budget share (e.g. pension
deductions).
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 70

8.3.10 Additional transport costs incurred by the Authority arising from decisions by the Governing
Body on the length of the school day, and the failure to notify the Authority of non-pupil
days resulting in unnecessary transport costs.
8.3.11 Legal costs which are incurred by the Authority because the Governing Body did not accept
the advice of the Authority (see also section 11).
8.3.12 Costs of necessary health and safety training for staff employed by the Authority, where
funding for training has been delegated but the necessary training has not been carried out.
8.3.13 Compensation paid to a lender where a school enters into a contract for borrowing beyond
its legal powers, and the contract is of no effect.
8.3.14 Cost of work done in respect of teacher pension remittance and records for schools using
non-Authority payroll contracts, the charge to be minimum needed to meet the cost of the
Authority’s compliance with its statutory obligations.
8.3.15 Costs incurred by the Authority in securing provision specified in an Education, Health and
Care Plan (EHCP) where the Governing Body of a school fails to secure such provision
despite the delegation of funds in respect of low cost high incidence SEN (prior attainment)
and/or specific funding for a pupil with High Needs.
8.3.16 Cost incurred by the Authority due to submission by the school of incorrect data.
8.3.17 Recovery of amounts spent from specific grants on ineligible purposes.
8.3.18 Costs incurred by the Authority as a result of the Governing Body being in breach of the
terms of a contract, e.g. opting out of a centrally managed contract without giving sufficient
notice as specified in the contract.
8.3.19 Costs incurred by the Authority or another school as a result of a school withdrawing from a
cluster arrangement, for example where this has funded staff proving services across the
cluster.
8.3.20 Costs incurred by the authority in administering admissions appeals, where the local
authority is the admissions authority and the funding for admission appeals has been
delegated to all schools as part of their formula allocation.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 71
Chapter

9
9.1

Taxation

Value Added Tax
Schools will provide a monthly return showing the amounts of VAT paid out and charged.
The Authority will reclaim the net VAT on non-business activities and the reclaimed amount
will be paid into the schools bank account.
HM Revenue and Customers have agreed that VAT incurred by schools when spending
any funding made available by the authority is treated as being incurred by the authority
and qualifies for reclaim by the authority. This does not include expenditure by the
governors of a voluntary aided school when carrying out their statutory duties to maintain
the external fabric of their buildings. See also section 15.

9.2

CIS (Construction Industry Taxation Scheme)
Schools are required to abide by the procedures laid down by the Authority in connection
with Construction Industry Taxation Scheme.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 72
Chapter

10

10.1

The provision of
services and facilities by
the authority

Provision of services from centrally retained budgets
It is for the Authority to determine on what basis services from centrally-retained
funds will be provided to schools. This includes Premature Retirement Compensation
(PRC) and redundancy payments, where appropriate.
The Authority will not discriminate in its provision of services to schools on the basis of
their category except in circumstances where (a) funding has been delegated to some
schools only or (b) such discrimination is justified by differences in statutory duties.

10.2

Provision of services bought back from the authority using delegated budgets
Services can be bought back from the Authority using delegated budgets, the services
available are contained within the Authority’s current Service for Schools brochure.
Provision will be available on a service-by-service basis; it may be tailored to individual
school needs and may form part of a package of services.
Services are renegotiated annually in the autumn term, with a pricing proposal sent to
schools for consideration in December.
Final offers are confirmed in May when schools sign a Service Level Agreement setting out
the terms and conditions of the Authority and the school.

10.2.1 Changes to services


The service provider will give schools six months’ written notice, with the option to
withdraw from the service from the start of the revised specification.



Schools wishing to withdraw should give three months’ notice of withdrawal in
writing to their Business Relationship Manager.

10.2.2 Termination of the service


The service provider may terminate the agreement with a minimum of one terms’
prior written notice.



Either party may terminate the agreement immediately if the other party commits
any serious or material breach of the terms of this agreement.



Schools can terminate their agreement with the provider by giving six months notice
in writing to their Business Relationship Manager.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 73


The exception to this is where the Authority negotiates a corporate contract on
behalf of the schools with a third party; under these circumstances the school must
give the full period of notice.

Any service provided to schools for which expenditure is not retainable by the Authority
under the Regulations made under section 46 of the Act, are offered at prices which are
intended not to generate income but cover the cost of provision.
The cost of providing the service is met by the income generated, even if schools are
charged differentially.
10.3

Packaging
Any services, which the Authority is providing on a buyback basis, will be offered in a way
that will not unreasonably restrict schools’ freedom of choice among the services available.
Provision will be available on a service-by-service basis with further freedom of choice
available though a menu systems which offers individual elements of the services. Some
services also offer packages of services, which may offer a more cost effective service.

10.4

Service level agreements
Any SLA offered by the authority will comply with the terms specified in 10.2 above.
School will have a minimum of one month to consider the terms of any SLA offered.
Centrally arranged premises and liability insurance are excluded from any LA offered SLA.

10.5

Teachers’ Pensions
In order to ensure that the performance of the duty on the Authority to supply Teachers
Pensions with information under the Teachers’ Pensions Regulations 1997, the following
conditions are imposed on the Authority and Governing Bodies of all maintained schools
covered by this Scheme in relation to their budget shares. The conditions only apply to
Governing Bodies of maintained schools that have not entered into an arrangement with
the Authority to provide payroll services.
A Governing Body of any maintained school, whether or not the employer of the teachers at
such a school, which has entered into any arrangement or agreement with a person other
than the Authority to provide payroll services, shall ensure that any such arrangement or
agreement is varied to require that person to supply salary, service and pensions data to
the Authority which the Authority requires to submit its annual return of salary and service
to Teachers' Pensions and to produce its audited contributions certificate. The Authority
will advise schools each year of the timing, format and specification of the information
required. A Governing Body shall also ensure that any such arrangement or agreement is
varied to require that Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) are passed to the Authority
within the time limit specified in the AVC scheme. The Governing Body shall meet any
consequential costs from the school’s budget share.
A Governing Body of any maintained school which directly administers its payroll shall
supply salary, service and pensions data to the Authority which the Authority requires to
submit its annual return of salary and service to Teachers' Pensions and to produce its
audited contributions certificate. The Authority will advise schools each year of the timing,
format and specification of the information required from each school. A Governing Body
shall also ensure that Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) are passed to the Authority
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 74
within the time limit specified in the AVC scheme. The Governing Body shall meet any
consequential costs from the school’s budget share.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 75
Chapter

11

11.1

Private financial
initiative (PFI) and public
private partnerships
(PPP)

PFI & PPP
Any school agreeing to be included within a PFI contract will be required to sign a
‘Governing Body Agreement’. The agreement is between the Authority and Governing Body
and sets out details of the services provided under the PFI contract and the schools
financial contributions.
The current PFI contract in place for some Primary schools requires schools to pay a
contribution based on their historical spend for the services now provided by the contractor
under the PFI contract.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 76
Chapter

12
12.1

Insurance

Insurance cover
Where funds for insurance are delegated to any school, the Authority will require the
school to demonstrate that cover relevant to the Authority’s insurable interests, under a
policy arranged by the governing body, is at least as good as the relevant minimum cover
arranged by the Authority, having regard to the actual risks which might reasonably be
expected to arise at the school. (See also 8.2.6).
Governing bodies maintaining their own insurance cover in place of that arranged by the
Authority must provide to the Director of Children’s Services an up-to-date copy of the
policy or policies, together with all premium receipts or other evidence of cover. Failure to
provide documentary proof of a satisfactory level of cover within a reasonable period of
such a request being made may result in the school's budget share being charged.
See appendix 4.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 77
Chapter

13
13.1

Miscellaneous

Right of access to information
The Governing Body must supply all financial and other information which may be required
by the Authority to satisfy itself that the school is properly managing its delegated budget
share and any additional funds provided by the Authority.

13.2

Liability of Governors
Governors of maintained schools will not incur personal liability in the exercise of their
power to spend the delegated budget share provided that they act in good faith.

13.3

Governors expenses
Under section 50(5) of the Act, only allowances in respect of purposes specified in
regulations made under section 19 of the Education Act 2002 may be paid to governors
from a school’s delegated budget share. Schools are not permitted to pay any other
allowances.
Schools with delegated budgets should only pay reasonable expenses. Schools may be
required to provide details to the Authority of expenses paid.

13.3.1 New schools
Provision may be made to delegate funds for Governor’s expenses to a school yet to
receive a delegated budget. Only allowances as per Section 11 of the Schools Standards
and Framework Act 1998 will be paid.
13.3.2 Special measures
Expenses paid to additional Governors to schools appointed by the Secretary of State
under special measures must not be paid from a school’s delegated budget share.
13.4

Responsibility for legal costs
Legal costs incurred by the Governing Body, although the responsibility of the Authority as
part of the cost of maintaining the school unless they relate to the statutory responsibility of
voluntary aided school governors for buildings, may be charged to the school’s budget
share unless the Governing Body acts in accordance with the advice of the authority. (see
section 8).
The costs referred to are those of legal actions, including costs awarded against an
Authority; not the cost of legal advice provided.
Where there is a potential conflict of interest, problems could arise for the Authority and the
Governing Body in obtaining proper legal advice. In this situation, the Authority should be
consulted and the Governing Body should consider obtaining independent legal advice.

13.5

Health and safety

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 78
In expending the school’s budget share the Governing Body must have due regard to
duties placed on the Authority in relation to health and safety, and the Authority’s policy on
health and safety matters in the management of the budget share.
13.6

Right of attendance for Chief Finance Officer
Governing bodies must permit the Chief Finance Officer, or any officer nominated by the
Chief Finance Officer, to attend meetings of the Governing Body at which any agenda items
are relevant to the exercise of his/her responsibilities. The Chief Finance Officer or their
nominee will give prior notice of such attendance unless impracticable to do so.

13.7

Special Educational Needs
Schools must use their best endeavours in spending the budget share, to secure the
special educational needs of their pupils.

13.8

Interest on late payments
Under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 all small company
creditors must be paid within 30 days of the receipt of the invoice, unless there has been a
dispute registered with the creditor. The creditor can, after such period has elapsed, submit
a surcharge, on the original amount outstanding.
Published criteria change and Schools should ensure that they comply with the latest
statutory requirement on this subject.

13.9

‘Whistleblowing’
Staff and Governors who wish to raise concerns about financial management or financial
propriety at the school should contact either the Director of Children’s Services, Director of
Finance and Resources, Head of Schools Finance, Head of Internal Audit & Investigations.
Procedures have been adopted by the Authority to protect individuals making disclosures in
order to maintain confidence in public services.
Details of the Authorities “Whistleblowing” policy is available on their web-site.

13.10 Child Protection
All maintained schools are required to have a designated member of staff for child
protection (usually the head or deputy) and a named Governor. These people are required
to attend the basic awareness Foundation Child Protection training course arranged by
ACPC. The courses are free to all schools, however, any supply cover costs has to be met
from the schools delegated budget.
13.11 Redundancy and early retirement costs
The 2002 Education Act sets out how premature retirement and redundancy costs should
normally be funded. Further guidance is provided in annex B.
The expectation on schools is that they will comply with local authority policy. It is expected
that schools will be liable for redundancy costs within their school. Where a school believes
that the cost of redundancy should be paid by the authority it should inform the Director of
Finance at the earliest opportunity.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 79
Chapter

14

14.1

Responsibility for
repairs and maintenance

Responsibility for repairs and maintenance
Following on from this section is Appendix 7 showing the categories of work which
Governing Bodies must finance from their budget. This covers both revenue (maintenance)
and capital budgets.
The Authority will maintain a capital programme for items of capital expenditure set out in
regulation 14.2 of the scheme. All other capital expenditure is the responsibility of the
Governing Body to be funded either from the schools devolved capital grant, other capital
funds or revenue contributions to capital.

14.2

Retained Expenditure
Only capital expenditure will be retained by the Authority. For these purposes, expenditure
may be treated as capital only if it fits the definition of capital used by the Authority for
financial accounting purposes in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice on local authority
accounting.

14.2.1 De Minimis
De minimis limits are shown in Appendix 6
14.3

Voluntary Aided Schools
For voluntary aided schools, the liability of the authority for repairs and maintenance is the
same as other maintained schools, and no separate list of responsibilities is necessary for
such schools. However, eligibility for capital grant from the Secretary of State for capital
works at voluntary aided schools depends on the de minimis limit applied by the DfE to
categorise such work, not the de minimis limit used by the authority.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 80
Chapter

15

Community facilities

Introduction
See Annex C
Schools now have greater opportunities to provide services for the community. An
extended school is one that provides a range of services and activities often beyond the
school day to help meet the needs of its pupils, their families and the wider community.
Governing bodies should read the DfE guidance publication “Extended Schools – providing
opportunities and services to all” prior to seeking to establish community activities.
Suspension of Delegated Budget
Mismanagement of community facility funds can be grounds for suspension of the right to a
delegated budget.
15.1

Consultation with the authority: financial aspects
In every school and community there will be key groups who need to be consulted about
activities. They should be involved in the planning process to ensure that extended school
programmes are in demand, well organised and meet local needs.
The Governing Body has ultimate responsibility for deciding whether the school should offer
additional activities and services and what form these should take. Before making
decisions, governors need to be aware of any additional responsibilities that may result
from providing additional services through the school. As with existing school activities,
Governing Bodies can delegate the practical delivery of services to others, but they will
keep ultimate legal responsibility.
Headteachers will need to be fully consulted in the development of additional activities and
services in the school. Their school management experience can also be invaluable for the
planning of new activities and services and in some schools, Headteachers may choose to
be closely involved in the Leadership of additional activities and services.
Other school staff can also play a key role in the planning process. Most will have a clear
understanding of the needs of pupils, families and the wider school community. They will
also be able to advise on the day-to-day impact of additional services on the school
premises, equipment, timetables and school community.
Whatever their level of involvement, all school staff should be kept informed and involved in
any decisions that relate to the school premises, staff or pupils.

15.1.1 Consult the Authority
Section 28(4) of the Education Act 2002 requires that before exercising the community
facilities power, Governing Bodies must consult the Authority, and have regard to advice
given to them by their Authority.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 81
15.1.2 Approach the Authority
Schools should initially approach the Authority for a strategic view on potential
programmes. The Authority is well placed to help in assessing the ability of schools to offer
additional activities. The Authority will take into account the school’s resources, financial
management abilities and other considerations.
15.1.3 Responses
The Authority will issue an initial response to any approach from a school within four weeks.
The Authority may request from any school operating community activities a report on any
action taken following the advice.
15.2

Funding agreements: authority powers

15.2.1 Funding Agreements
The provision of community facilities in many schools may be dependent on the conclusion
of a funding agreement with a third party which will either be supplying funding or supplying
funding and taking part on the provision. A very wide range of bodies and organisations are
potentially involved.
15.2.2 Authority review
Any funding agreements with third parties should be submitted to the Authority for its
comments prior to the Governing Body signing any such agreement so that the Authority
can ensure that any agreement is not seriously prejudicial to the interests of the school or
the Authority.
15.3

Other prohibitions, restrictions and limitations

15.3.1 Additional requirement
Where the Authority believes it appropriate they may require the use of community facilities
power by a governing body, the governing body concerned to make arrangements to
protect the financial interests of the Authority by carrying out the activities concerned
through the vehicle of a limited company formed for the purpose, or by obtaining indemnity
insurance for risks associated with the project in question, as specified by the authority.
15.3.2 Additional restrictions
The Authority has the power to suspend a school’s delegated budget if:


a school undertakes the provision of community activities without consulting the
Authority and which the Authority considers is seriously prejudicial to the interests of the
school or the Authority;



the Authority considers the financial management of community services provided by a
Governing Body unsatisfactory; or



the Governing Body is guilty of substantial or persistent non-compliance with any rules
laid down by or under the Authority’s Scheme for Financing Schools.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 82
15.4

Supply of financial Information
All schools will need to make some adjustments to their financial procedures in order to
extend their activities beyond pupils and the school curriculum.
Community activities must be self-financing, except study support for pupils. Study support
is learning activities outside normal school hours which young people take part in
voluntarily. The purpose of study support is to improve young people’s motivation, build
their self-esteem and help them become more effective learners and above all aims to raise
pupil’s achievement.
There are several basic principles for financial management of extended schools
programmes.


Additional activities and services should have separate financial accounts.



Programmes must be self-financing and the school’s delegated budget share cannot be
used for funding additional activities and services, except study support for pupils.



Before establishing community activities the Governing Body must prepare a four year
business plan including cash flow forecasts. The business plan should demonstrate
how the Governing Body would fund establishing any community activities and
demonstrate that the activities are self-financing for the following three years. Once
established a three year business plan should be maintained.



Governing bodies may seek grant funding to establish community activities e.g. New
Opportunities Funding for Out of School Clubs.



The Governing Body may not borrow money for community activities without the written
consent of the Secretary of State. This requirement does not extend to monies lent to
schools by the Authority.



If by providing community activities, it is felt that it is adversely affecting the Governing
Body’s main responsibility to educate pupils and promote high standards of educational
achievement at the school, the Authority may withdraw the right for the Governing Body
to operate such community activities.



Failure to comply with regulations on financial procedures could lead to the removal of
the Governing Body’s power to discharge its delegated budget.

Community use of school facilities will need to be self-financing, either through alternative
funding streams or charges to users.
It should be noted that activities such as study support are deemed as being for ‘the
purposes of the school’ (i.e. for the educational benefit of the school’s registered pupils).
Therefore, such activities may be funded from the school’s budget share and schools are
encouraged to provide all study support activities free to all pupils.
The Governing Body should keep separate accounts for its community activities to ensure
that the community costs incurred are fully covered by income such as fees and charges
and kept distinct from the school’s delegated budget.
Some schools may wish to encourage activities and services that they consider a priority,
but which might not be self-financing. Activities and services that generate income can be
used to help support other programmes. Equally, charges can be subsidised for individual
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 83
users of services who might be unable to pay to participate, but who could benefit
significantly from the activity or service.
15.4.1 Supply of Financial Information
Any school operating community activities must provide the Authority with a financial report
identifying income and expenditure received, accumulated balance brought forward from
the previous financial year and projected year end financial position every six months.
If the Authority has concerns of the financial viability of any community activities a school
may be required to provide a financial report identifying income and expenditure received,
accumulated balance brought forward from the previous financial year and projected year
end financial position on a quarterly basis.
If the Authority continues to have concerns of the financial viability of any community
activities a school will be required to submit a recovery plan for the activity in question.
Schedule 3 of the Education Act 2002 inserts a new provision into Schedule 15 of the Act to
make mismanagement of funds received for community facilities a basis for suspension of
the right to delegation of the budget share.
15.4.2 Supply of Non-financial information
Governing bodies may be required to provide some non-financial information to the
Authority where any community activities form part of a corporate strategy for provision.
The Authority will inform the Governing Body of any such requirements at the time of
agreeing the establishment of such community activities.
15.4.3 Adjustment to frequency of financial reports
If the Authority has concerns of the financial viability of any community activities a school
may be required to provide a financial report identifying income and expenditure received,
accumulated balance brought forward from the previous financial year and projected year
end financial position on a quarterly basis.
If the Authority continues to have concerns of the financial viability of any community
activities a school will be required to submit a recovery plan for the activity in question.
Schedule 3 of the Education Act 2002 inserts a new provision into Schedule 15 of the Act to
make mismanagement of funds received for community facilities a basis for suspension of
the right to delegation of the budget share.
15.5

Audit
Schools community activities financial accounts must be made available for inspection by
internal and external audit.

15.5.1 Access
In concluding funding agreements with other persons pursuant to the exercise of the
community facilities power, the Governing Body must ensure that such agreements contain
adequate provision for access by the Authority to the records and other property of those
persons held on the school premises, or held elsewhere insofar as they relate to the activity
in question, in order for the Authority to satisfy itself as to the propriety of expenditure on
the facilities in question.
15.6

Treatment of Income and Surpluses
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 84

15.6.1 Retaining Net Income
The school can retain all net income derived from community facilities except where
otherwise agreed with a funding provider, whether that be the Authority or some other body.
15.6.2 Carrying forward Retained Net Income
Such retained net income can be carried over from one financial year to the next as a
separate community activities surplus. Such surplus funds should usually be retained to
provide a contingency fund to cover any deficit generated on community activities in any
year or are sufficient to cover any winding up costs should the activity cease. If the
community activities surplus funds are such that they are not all required as a contingency
to cover any potential deficit generated or potential winding up costs, the Authority may
agree with the school transferring part of the surplus to the schools account for a specific
purpose.
Should the Authority close any community or community special school, any accumulated
community activities surplus of the school reverts to the Authority unless otherwise agreed
with a funding provider.
15.6.3 Treatment of Deficits
Any deficit must firstly be met from any accumulated community activities surplus and
cannot be met from the school budget share unless such a purpose is prescribed by
regulations made under s.50 (3) (b) of the1998 Act.
If the accumulated community activities surplus is insufficient to cover any deficit this must
be carried forward, if the business plan demonstrates that the deficit can be covered from
future year’s surpluses.
If the business plan demonstrates that the community activity is not viable long term the
Governing Body are required to use any other funds under their control to cover the deficit.
If this is still insufficient the Governing Body and the Authority should implement an action
plan to cease any unviable community activity and the Governing body should formulate a
recovery plan to recover any remaining deficit.
15.7

Health and Safety
The health and safety standards for community activities should be the same as those to
any other activities undertaken at the school.

15.7.1 Disclosure and Barring Service Checks
The Governing Body must ensure that any adults involved in community activities have
Disclosure and Barring Service clearance and the cost of such clearance should be met by
the community activities accounts or funding partner as part of an agreement with that
partner.
15.8

Insurance
The Governing Body must ensure adequate arrangements are made for insurance against
risks arising from the exercise of the community facilities power, taking professional advice
as necessary. Such insurance should not be funded from the school budget share.

15.8.1 Authority power to assess insurance arrangements
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 85
The Governing Body must provide the Director of Children’s Services with evidence that
they have such insurance arrangements in place for community activities. The Director of
Children’s Services may also undertake their his/her own assessment of the insurance
arrangements made by a school in respect of community activities, and if it judges those
arrangements to be inadequate, make arrangements itself and charge the resultant cost to
the schools community activities account. This provision ensures that the Authority can
protect itself against possible third party claims.
15.9

Taxation
The Governing Body should seek the advice of the Director of Finance and Resources and
the local VAT office on any issues relating to the possible imposition of Value Added Tax on
expenditure and income in connection with community facilities, including the use of the
Authority VAT reclaim facility.
The Governing Body must abide with the requirements of the Scheme for Financing
Schools in relation to all aspect of taxation (regulations under section 7 of the Scheme for
Financing Schools).

15.9.1 Payment of income tax and National Insurance
For any member of staff employed by the school or authority in connection with community
facilities at the school is paid from funds held in a school’s own bank account (whether a
separate account is used for community facilities or not) the school is held liable for
payment of income tax and National Insurance, in line with HM Revenue and Customs
rules.
15.9.2 Construction Industry Scheme
Schools should follow authority advice in relation to the Construction Industry Scheme
where this is relevant to the exercise of the community facilities power.
15.10 Banking
15.10.1 Separation of Accounts
Although it is necessary for the school to keep a separate financial account for community
activities this does not necessitate community activities being held in a separate bank
account.
15.10.2 Bank Accounts
If a school does decide to operate their community activities through a separate bank
account, then it must be at a bank that is an approved institution as set out in requirement
of the Scheme for Financing Schools (appendix 2).
15.10.3 Borrowing
Schools may not borrow money without the written consent of the Secretary of State. This
requirement does not extend to monies lent to schools by their maintaining authority.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 86
Annex
A

The funding framework main features

The funding framework which replaces Local Management of Schools is set out in the legislative
provisions in sections 45 to 53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.
Under this legislation, local authorities determine for themselves the size of their schools budget
and their non-schools education budget, although at a minimum an authority must appropriate its
entire dedicated schools grant to its schools budget.
The categories of expenditure which fall within the 2 budgets are prescribed under regulations
made by the Secretary of State, but included within the 2, taken together, is all expenditure, direct
and indirect, on an authority’s maintained schools except for capital and certain miscellaneous
items.
Authorities may deduct funds from their schools budget for purposes specified in regulations made
by the Secretary of State under section 45A of the act (the centrally retained expenditure).
The amounts to be deducted for these purposes are decided by the authority concerned, subject to
any limits or conditions, including gaining the approval of their schools forum or the Secretary of
State in certain instances, as prescribed by the Secretary of State.
The balance of the schools budget left after deduction of the centrally retained expenditure is
termed the individual schools budget (ISB). Expenditure items in the non-schools education budget
must be retained centrally, although earmarked allocations may be made to schools.
Authorities must distribute the ISB amongst their maintained schools using a formula which
accords with regulations made by the Secretary of State, and enables the calculation of a budget
share for each maintained school.
This budget share is then delegated to the governing body of the school concerned, unless the
school is a new school which has not yet received a delegated budget, or the right to a delegated
budget has been suspended in accordance with section 51 of the Act.
The financial controls within which delegation works are set out in a scheme made by the authority
in accordance with section 48 of the act and regulations made under that section.
All proposals to revise the scheme must be approved by the schools forum, though the authority
may apply to the Secretary of State for approval in the event of the forum rejecting a proposal or
approving it subject to modifications that are not acceptable to the authority.
Subject to any provision made by or under the scheme, governing bodies of schools may spend
such amounts of their budget shares as they think fit for any purposes of their school and for any
additional purposes prescribed by the Secretary of State in regulations made under section 50 of
the Act.
Section 50 has been amended to provide that amounts spent by a governing body on providing
community facilities or services under section 27 of the Education Act 2002 are treated as if they
were amounts spent for the purposes of the school (section 50(3A) of the act).
An authority may suspend a school’s right to a delegated budget if the provisions of the authority’s
financial scheme, or rules applied by the scheme, have been substantially or persistently
breached, or if the budget share has not been managed satisfactorily.
A school’s right to a delegated budget share may also be suspended for other reasons, under
schedule 17 to the act.
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 87
Each authority is obliged to publish each year a statement setting out details of its planned schools
budget and other expenditure on children’s services, showing the amounts to be centrally retained
and funding delegated to schools; after each financial year the authority must publish a statement
showing outturn expenditure.
The detailed publication requirements for financial statements are set out in directions issued by
the Secretary of State.
A copy of each year’s budget and outturn statement should be made easily accessible to all
schools.
Regulations also require a local authority to publish their scheme and any revisions to it on a
website accessible to the general public, by the date that any revisions come into force, together
with a statement that the revised scheme comes into force on that date.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 88
Annex
B

Responsibility for redundancy and
early retirement costs

This guidance note summarises the position relating to the charging of voluntary early retirement
and redundancy costs. It sets out what is specified in legislation and provides some examples of
when it might be appropriate to charge an individual school’s budget, the central Schools Budget or
the local authority’s non-schools budget.
Section 37 of the 2002 Education Act says:
(4) costs incurred by the local education authority in respect of any premature retirement of a
member of the staff of a maintained school shall be met from the school's budget share for one or
more financial years except in so far as the authority agree with the governing body in writing
(whether before or after the retirement occurs) that they shall not be so met
(5) costs incurred by the local education authority in respect of the dismissal, or for the purpose of
securing the resignation, of any member of the staff of a maintained school shall not be met from
the school's budget share for any financial year except in so far as the authority have good reason
for deducting those costs, or any part of those costs, from that share.
(6) The fact that the authority have a policy precluding dismissal of their employees by reason of
redundancy is not to be regarded as a good reason for the purposes of subsection (5); and in this
subsection the reference to dismissal by reason of redundancy shall be read in accordance with
section 139 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (c. 18).
The default position, therefore, is that premature retirement costs must be charged to the school’s
delegated budget, while redundancy costs must be charged to the local authority’s budget. In the
former case, the local authority has to agree otherwise for costs to be centrally funded, while in the
latter case, there has to be a good reason for it not to be centrally funded, and that cannot include
having a no redundancy policy. Ultimately, it would be for the courts to decide what a good reason
was, but the examples set out below indicate the situations in which exceptions to the default
position might be taken.
Charge of dismissal/resignation costs to delegated school budget


If a school has decided to offer more generous terms than the authority’s policy, then it would
be reasonable to charge the excess to the school.



If a school is otherwise acting outside the local authority’s policy.



Where the school is making staffing reductions which the local authority does not believe are
necessary to either set a balanced budget or meet the conditions of a licensed deficit.



Where staffing reductions arise from a deficit caused by factors within the school’s control.



Where the school has excess surplus balances and no agreed plan to use these.



Where a school has refused to engage with the local authority’s redeployment policy.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 89
Charge of premature retirement costs to local authority non-schools budget


Where a school has a long-term reduction in pupil numbers and charging such costs to their
budget would impact on standards.



Where a school is closing, does not have sufficient balances to cover the costs and where the
central Schools Budget does not have capacity to absorb the deficit.



Where charging such costs to the school’s budget would prevent the school from complying
with a requirement to recover a licensed deficit within the agreed timescale.



Where a school is in special measures, does not have excess balances and employment of the
relevant staff is being/has been terminated as a result of local authority or government
intervention to improve standards

Costs of early retirements or redundancies may only be charged to the central schools services
block of the schools budget, as a historic commitment, where the expenditure is to be incurred as a
result of decisions made before 1st April 2013. Costs may not exceed the amount budgeted in the
previous financial year.
The local authority can retain a central budget within the schools budget to fund the costs of new
early retirements or redundancies by a deduction from maintained school budgets (excluding
nursery schools) only, where the relevant maintained school members of the schools forum agree.
It is important that the local authority discusses its policy with its Schools Forum. Although each
case should be considered on its merits, this should be within an agreed framework. It may be
reasonable to share costs in some cases, and some authorities operate a panel to adjudicate on
applications.
A de-delegated contingency could be provided, if the Schools Forum agrees, to support individual
schools where “a governing body has incurred expenditure which it would be unreasonable to
expect them to meet from the school’s budget share”.
For staff employed under the community facilities power, the default position is that any costs must
be met by the governing body, and can be funded from the school’s delegated budget if the
governing body is satisfied that this will not interfere to a significant extent with the performance of
any duties imposed on them by the Education Acts, including the requirement to conduct the
school with a view to promoting high standards of educational achievement. Section 37 now states:
(7) Where a local education authority incur costs—
(a) in respect of any premature retirement of `any member of the staff of a maintained
school who is employed for community purposes, or
(b) in respect of the dismissal, or for the purpose of securing the resignation, of any
member of the staff of a maintained school who is employed for those purposes, they shall
recover those costs from the governing body except in so far as the authority agrees with
the governing body in writing (whether before or after the retirement, dismissal or
resignation occurs) that they shall not be so recoverable.
(7A) Any amount payable by virtue of subsection (7) by the governing body of a maintained school
in England to the local authority may be met by the governing body out of the school’s budget
share for any funding period if and to the extent that the condition in subsection 7(B) is met.
(7B) The condition is that the governing body are satisfied that meeting the amount out of the
school’s budget share will not to a significant extent interfere with the performance of any duty
imposed on them by section 21(2) or by any other provision of the education Acts.
(8)Where a person is employed partly for community purposes and partly for other purposes, any
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 90
payment or costs in respect of that person is to be apportioned between the two purposes; and the
preceding provisions of this section shall apply separately to each part of the payment or costs.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 91
Annex
C

Application of schemes for financing
schools to the community facilities
power

Schools which choose to exercise the power conferred by section 27 (1) of the Education Act 2002
to provide community facilities will be subject to controls. Regulations made under section 28 (2), if
made, can specify activities which may not be undertaken at all under the main enabling power.
Section 88 of the Children and Families Act 2014, has removed the requirements in section 28(4)
and section 28(5) of the Education Act 2002 for maintained schools in England. Under section
28(4) a school was obliged to consult its authority and under section 28(5) a school must have
regard to advice or guidance from the Secretary of State or their local authority when offering this
type of provision.
Under section 28(1), the main limitations and restrictions on the power will be those contained in
the maintaining authority’s scheme for financing schools made under section 48 of the School
Standards and Framework Act 1998 as amended by paragraph 2 of Schedule 3 to the Education
Act 2002.
This amendment extended the coverage of schemes to include the exercise of the powers of
governing bodies to provide community facilities.
Schools are therefore subject to prohibitions, restrictions and limitations in the scheme for financing
schools. This part of the scheme does not extend to joint-use agreements, transfer of control
agreements, or agreements between the authority and schools to secure the provision of adult and
community learning.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 92
Appendix

1

Schools List
NURSERY SCHOOL

Surbiton Children’s Centre Nursery, Alpha Road, Surbiton, KT5 8RS

PRIMARY SCHOOLS
Community Schools
Alexandra School, Alexandra Road, Kingston upon Thames, KT2 6SE
Burlington Infant School, Burlington Road, New Malden, KT3 4L
Burlington Junior School, Burlington Road, New Malden, KT3 4LT
Coombe Hill Infant School, Coombe Lane West, Kingston upon Thames, KT2 7DD
Coombe Hill Junior School, Coombe Lane West, Kingston upon Thames, KT2 7DD
Ellingham Primary School, Ellingham Road, Chessington, KT. 2JA
Fern Hill Primary School, Richmond Road, Kingston upon Thames, KT2 5PE
Grand Avenue Primary School, Grand Avenue, Tolworth,
King Athelstan Primary School, Villiers Road, Kingston upon Thames, KT1 3AR
King’s Oak Primary School, Dickerage Lane, New Malden, KT3 3RZ
Lovelace Primary School, Mansfield Road, Chessington, KT9 2RN
Malden Manor Primary School, Lawrence Avenue, New Malden, KT3 5NB
Maple Infants School, Maple Road, Surbiton, KT6 4AL
Robin Hood Primary School, Bowness Crescent, Kingston Vale, SW15 3QL
Tolworth Infant School, School Lane, Tolworth, KT6 7SA
Tolworth Junior School, Douglas Road, Tolworth, KT6 7SA
Voluntary Aided Schools
Christ Church New Malden C of E Primary School, Lime Grove, New Malden, KT3 3TW
Christ Church C of E Primary School, Pine Gardens, Surbiton, KT5 8LJ
Corpus Christi RC Primary School, Chestnut Grove, New Malden, KT3 3JU
Malden Parochial Primary School, The Manor Drive, Worcester Park, KT4 7LW

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 93
Our Lady Immaculate RC Primary School, 399 Ewell Road, Tolworth, KT6 7DG
St. Andrew's & St. Mark's C of E Junior School, Maple Road, Surbiton, KT6 4AL
St. John's C of E Primary School, Portland Road, Kingston upon Thames, KT1 2SG
St. Joseph's RC Primary School, The Fairfield, Kingston upon Thames, KT1 2UP
St. Mary's C of E Primary School, Church Lane, Chessington, KT9 2DH
St. Matthew's C of E Primary School, Langley Road, Surbiton, KT6 6LW
St. Paul's C of E Primary School, Orchard Road, Chessington, KT9 1AJ
St. Paul's C of E Primary School, Kingston Hill, Princes Road, Kingston upon Thames, KT2
6AZ
Foundation School
St. Luke's C of E Primary School, Elm Road, Kingston upon Thames, KT2 6HS
Lime Tree Primary School, South Bank Terrace, Surbiton, KT6 6DG

SECONDARY SCHOOLS
Community School
Chessington School, Garrison Lane, Chessington, KT9 2JS

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 94

Appendix

2

Approved Banking
Institutions

Approved Institutions for School Bank Accounts
(This list is based on the Authority’s Treasury Management Policy)

The Authority will maintain a list of bank or building societies at which accounts may be held for the
purpose of receiving budget share payments.
The current approved list is found below:
BARCLAYS BANK
HSBC BANK
LLOYDS BANKING GROUP
Bank of Scotland
Lloyds TSB Bank
NATIONWIDE BUILDING SOCIETY
ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND GROUP
National Westminster Bank
Royal Bank of Scotland
SANTANDER UK plc
For other banks and/or building societies contact the Authority’s Treasury Management Officer.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 95

Appendix

3

School Borrowing

Introduction
The School Standards and Framework Act 1998 allow schools to borrow if they have the
permission of the Secretary of State.

Definition
Maintained school governing bodies may borrow money only with the written permission of the
Secretary of State. This does not apply to Trustees and Foundations, whose borrowing, as private
bodies, makes no impact on Government accounts, but any such debts may not be serviced directly
from schools' delegated budget shares. However, schools are free to agree a charge for any service
which the Trustees or Foundation may provide as a consequence of their own borrowing.
Credit cards count as borrowing and cannot be used for budget share expenditure by any school
irrespective of whether the school uses its own or RBK bank account. However schools can use
debit and credit cards in conjunction with voluntary accounts. Cheque Book schools can have debit
cards provided that it is linked to the approved bank used by the school. There is no facility for
General Ledger schools to use debit or procurement cards for budget share expenditure.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 96

Appendix

4

Insurance

Please note that this is not a statement of cover provided under the Authority’s policy.
1.

MINIMUM INSURANCE COVER REQUIREMENTS: COMMUNITY AND FOUNDATION
SCHOOLS

Community and Foundations schools taking out their own insurance must secure, as a minimum,
insurance coverage that is at least as good as those stated here.
These requirements do not include the optional computer extension, or motor insurance, which are
currently provided for under the Council’s current policy. Cover may be conveniently divided under
the following headings:
1.1

Fire, Lightening, Explosion, Aircraft, Riot and Civil Commotion, Storm, Flood,
Malicious Damage, Earthquake, Escape of Water, Impact

This covers Loss or Damage to the school building, fixtures, fittings and all other contents
belonging to the school. This excludes the first £500 of any loss.
1.2

Additional Expenditure

This covers any additional expenditure incurred in avoiding or diminishing the interruption of, or
interference with, the operation of the school, as a direct result of any of the insured perils, as listed
above.
1.3

Theft

This covers the theft of school property, excluding the first £500 of any loss. The definition of theft
includes forcible or violent entry to, or exit from, the school building.
1.4

Employers Liability

The Limit of Indemnity is £50,000,000. This indemnifies the Council, all staff, Governors and
authorised volunteers in respect of their legal liability for accidental bodily injury to any person, or
damage to property not belonging to the insured, that arises in the course of their official or
voluntary duties.
1.5

Public Liability

The Limit of Indemnity is £50,000,000. This indemnifies the Council in respect of all sums which
they may be legally liable to pay as damages, claimant’s costs, and expenses for accidental injury
to any person (other than a member of staff, Governor, or authorised volunteer), or accidental
damage to property not belonging to the Insured.
1.6

Officials Indemnity

The Limit of Indemnity is £5,000,000. This indemnifies the Governors and all staff in respect of
their legal liabilities for Financial Loss arising as a result of a negligent act, accidental error, or
omission in the course of their official duties.
1.7

Fidelity Guarantee

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 97
The Limit of Indemnity is £5,000,000. This indemnifies the Governors and all staff in respect of
money or other property belonging to the Council or school occurring as a direct result of any act of
fraud or dishonesty committed by any member of staff or Governor. The first £500 of any loss is
excluded.
1.8

Libel and Slander

The Limit of Indemnity is £5,000,000. This indemnifies all staff and Governors in respect of all
sums that they may become legally liable to pay as damages for libels (written) or slanders
(spoken) arising out of, and in the course of, the discharge of their official duties.
Governors are required to bear 10 percent of all sums payable on their behalf. Losses arising from
malicious falsehood or injurious falsehood are not covered.
1.9

Money

Loss of money is covered, subject to suitable security arrangements being undertaken. The first
£250 of any loss is excluded.
The limits for loss of money include the following, which is not an exhaustive list.
a)
From an approved locked safe – up to the individual limit as advised by the insurers
b)
From any other locked safe - £500
c)
From any other locked receptacle - £500
d)
In the custody of an employee in transit, or under the actual supervision of employees at
the school - £7,500
1.10

Engineering

a)

All schools that have pressure plant or lifting equipment must ensure that they comply with
the Statutory Inspections.
Engineering Insurance covers damage to boilers and other plant. The first £500 of any loss
is excluded.

b)

2.

MINIMUM INSURANCE COVER REQUIREMENTS: VOLUNTARY AIDED SCHOOLS

Voluntary Aided (VA) schools taking out their own insurance must secure, as a minimum,
insurance coverage that is at least as good as those stated here. These requirements do not
include the optional computer extension, or motor insurance, which are currently provided for
under the Council’s current policy. Cover may be conveniently divided under the following
headings:
2.1

Fire, Lightening, Explosion, Aircraft, Riot and Civil Commotion, Storm, Flood,
Malicious Damage, Earthquake, Escape of Water, Impact

This covers Loss or Damage to the school building, fixtures, fittings and all other contents
belonging to the school. This excludes the first £500 of any loss.
2.1

Additional Expenditure

This covers any additional expenditure incurred in avoiding or diminishing the interruption of, or
interference with, the operation of the school, as a direct result of any of the insured perils, as listed
above.
2.2

Theft

This covers the theft of school property, excluding the first £500 of any loss. The definition of theft
includes forcible or violent entry to, or exit from, the school building.
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 98
2.3

Employers Liability

The Limit of Indemnity is £50,000,000. This indemnifies the Council, all staff, Governors and
authorised volunteers in respect of their legal liability for accidental bodily injury to any person, or
damage to property not belonging to the insured, that arises in the course of their official or
voluntary duties.
2.4

Public Liability

The Limit of Indemnity is £50,000,000. This indemnifies the Council in respect of all sums which
they may be legally liable to pay as damages, claimant’s costs, and expenses for accidental injury
to any person (other than a member of staff, Governor, or authorised volunteer), or accidental
damage to property not belonging to the Insured.
2.5

Officials Indemnity

The Limit of Indemnity is £5,000,000. This indemnifies the Governors and all staff in respect of
their legal liabilities for Financial Loss arising as a result of a negligent act, accidental error, or
omission in the course of their official duties.
2.6

Fidelity Guarantee

The Limit of Indemnity is £5,000,000. This indemnifies the Governors and all staff in respect of
money or other property belonging to the Council or school occurring as a direct result of any act of
fraud or dishonesty committed by any member of staff or Governor. The first £500 of any loss is
excluded.
2.7

Libel and Slander

The Limit of Indemnity is £5,000,000. This indemnifies all staff and Governors in respect of all
sums that they may become legally liable to pay as damages for libels (written) or slanders
(spoken) arising out of, and in the course of, the discharge of their official duties.
2.8

Money

Loss of money is covered, subject to suitable security arrangements being undertaken. The first
£250 of any loss is excluded.
The limits for loss of money include the following, which is not an exhaustive list.
a)
From an approved locked safe – up to the individual limit as advised by the insurers
b)
From any other locked safe - £500
c)
From any other locked receptacle - £500
d)
In the custody of an employee in transit, or under the actual supervision of employees at
the school - £7,500
2.10

Engineering

a) All schools that have pressure plant or lifting equipment must ensure that they comply with
the Statutory Inspections.
Engineering Insurance covers sudden and unforeseen damage or breakdown to boilers and other
plant. The first £500 of any loss is excluded.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 99

Appendix

5

Budget monitoring and
Submission Schedule

In order that the designated officer can fulfil their obligations under Section 151 of the Local
Government Act 1972 to “make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”
schools must provide the designated officer with a copy of their budget monitoring report submitted
to their Governing Body on at least a termly basis.
The Authority will aim to provide to schools by the 28 February of the previous financial year
indicative financial information on which schools can base their draft budgets and final/confirmed
financial information by 31 March of the previous financial year.
Each school must submit, by the 31 March of the previous financial year, a provisional school three
year budget plan to the Director of Children’s Services. The budget plan must be approved by
either the Governing Body or finance committee and signed by both the Headteacher and the
Chair of Governors or Chair of the finance committee. The provisional school budget plan will be
used to calculate schools April cash advances where appropriate.
Each school must submit as early as possible and no later than by the 1 May of the relevant
financial year a Standard three year School Budget Plan to the Director of Finance and Resources.
The budget plan must be approved at a full Governing Body meeting, minuted as such, and signed
by both the Headteacher and the Chair of Governors.
If a school considers they are likely to have to set a deficit budget they must notify the Director of
Children’s Services by 1 May. This will allow ongoing discussion between the school and the
Authority in order to agree a recovery plan.
For the Authority to manage it responsibilities to “make arrangements for the proper administration
of their financial affairs” (Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972), a school may be required
to provide further information to support their Standard School Budget Plan.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 100

Appendix

6

Supplementary
Information

If the expected capital expenditure from the budget share in any one year exceeds £20,000, the
governing body must notify the Authority and take into account any advice from the Director of
Children’s Services as to the merits of the proposed expenditure.
The Authority requires any capital spending from budget shares to be notified to the Director of
Children’s Services. Where the premises are owned by the Authority, the governing body must first
seek the consent of the Authority to the proposed works, but such consent can be withheld only on
health and safety grounds.

Schools Budget Share Carry forward Balance recommended percentages:
Primary

16% of delegated budget

Secondary

10% of delegated budget

Special schools and alternative provision: 30% of delegated budget
N.b. The base used to calculate the permissible level of contingency fund is the new year’s
delegated budget, e.g. the total revenue carry forward balance as at 31st March 2019 will be
compared to 10%, 16% or 30% of the 2019/20 delegated budget, made up of the issued Delegated
Schools Block, Delegated Early Years Block, and Delegated High Needs Place Funding - Including
EY SRPP as notified to schools as their budget allocations.

Schools Deficit Process
Schools should insure that they contact the AFC Schools Finance Team as early as possible
where they believe they may potential need to set a deficit budget.
The schools finance team will notify the appropriate local authority groups and act as liaison
between the school and the local authority.
AFC will work with the school to support the production of projected income and expenditure and
cash flow forecasts for the short, medium and long term.
The School will be required to submit a formal detailed deficit recovery plan. AFC will provide
advice/assurance to the authority on the sustainability of the proposed recovery plan.
A formal sign off of all arrangements will be required by the Assistant Director - Commissioning
Corporate Policy and Strategy and the Director of Finance and Corporate Services.

Deficit arrangements
Deficit arrangements may only be permitted where budgets cannot be balanced in year without
extreme significant damage to the curriculum.
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 101
The maximum period over which schools must balance their budget is normally three years.
Where a School has to set a deficit budget or AfC is alerted to an in-year deficit which requires
intervention:
•

AfC Schools Team will provide advice and guidance in putting together a Deficit
Recovery Plan for submission to the Council.

•

AfC advises the Council on the feasibility of a Deficit Recovery Plan, timescales and
any alternative options with associated costs where possible.

•

AfC will agree appropriate school improvement services with the school and Council.

•

AfC will provide agreed milestone updates on progress against the plan

EU Contract Thresholds
Contract Thresholds at and above which UK Regulations apply.
As at 1 January 2018
The financial thresholds are set out below. (All values exclude VAT).

Contract threshold
Prior Indicative
Notices (PIN)

SUPPLIES
£
Euro
118,133
144,000
615,278
750,000

SERVICES
£
Euro
118,133
144,000
615,278
750,000

WORK
£
Euro
4,551,413 5,548,000
4,551,413 5,548,000

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 102
Appendix

7

Document
Retention

The information supplied within this appendix is a guide under audit requirement. Where it is
unclear how long a document should be retained the default length should be six years after the
current year.
Payment of Creditors

6 Years

Paid Accounts – Invoices
(VAT invoices to be kept by the School)

yes

Petty Cash vouchers
(VAT vouchers to be kept by the School)

yes

2 Years

Official Copy Orders

yes

Delivery Notes and Goods Received Notes (where provided)

yes

Paid cheques (i.e. presented cheques where returned to the School
by bank) filed with their counterfoils

yes

Signed cheque listings

yes

Bank Account Records
Bank Statements

yes

Evidence of Bank Reconciliation’s

yes

Cheque Advice Slips/Cancelled or Spoilt cheques

yes

Bank Paying-in Books

yes

Deposit Books

yes

Direct Debit Notification Slips

yes *

Completed Copy Receipts and Authorisations

yes

Other Financial Records
Invoices raised by the School

yes

Cheque Control Sheets

yes

Computerised Accounting Detailed Reports

yes

Contracts

yes **
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 103
Pupil Records
All pupil records should be kept at least until pupils reach 22 years of age. This is on the basis that
there is, legally, an allowance of 3 years in which to bring claims. If not brought by a parent or
guardian, the pupil can bring a claim themselves, but only after they reach the age of 18.
The main exceptions to this rule are SEN records, records for those pupils with an exclusion or
truancy history, incidences of bullying and safety incident reports which should all be kept
indefinitely.
Notes
* the last direct debit payment is made, but with the date of cancellations clearly marked on the
notification slip.
** In the case of contracts by means of a deed, records should be kept for 12 years.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Appendix
8

Responsibility for Revenue and Capital Maintenance &
Improvement

LA continuing responsibility
Following delegation of the revenue budget for R&M, the property maintenance role of the LA has diminished. In future, the Authority will focus principally
on major capital works and strategic asset management. In exercising its “landlord” and employer function at Community schools, and in respect of its
liabilities at other schools, the Authority will monitor the upkeep of premises by governing bodies in order to satisfy itself that standards are maintained and
regulatory functions are undertaken.
Governors' responsibilities for premises

The responsibilities of schools includes the following:
All responsive repairs, maintenance and renewals All planned repairs, maintenance and renewals
Fire and Security Service contracts (alarms, extinguishers etc.) Heating and ventilation service contracts
Maintenance and inspection of hot water cylinders Maintenance of energy controls
Safety treatment to water services Testing and inspection of stage lighting
Periodic testing and inspection of mains electrical services and systems Periodic testing of emergency lighting systems
Periodic testing of lightning conductors Periodic testing of portable electrical equipment Lift maintenance
service contracts
Maintaining asbestos records
Establishing/maintaining envirosafe record systems (water services) Safety glazing upgrade works
All tree works
This list is not intended to be exhaustive but covers the main areas of responsibility.
The Authority will establish a definition of the division between Revenue and Capital expenditure in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice.

Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 104

The effect of the general delegation of this budget is that from April 1999 all schools have the main responsibility for the upkeep and maintenance of
premises. Headteachers and Governing Bodies are required to maintain their premises to a reasonable and acceptable standard with due attention to
Health and Safety and regulatory requirements. Schools are expected to address all structural R&M (responsive and planned), and execute routine
contractual and servicing works necessary to ensure the safe and proper operation of plant and systems.

The Authority will consider Capital Bids except where those bids are below stated financial limits. The current figures are £20,000 for Primary and Special
Schools and £30,000 for Secondary Schools. These amounts may be altered in subsequent years.
All individual works up to the value of these figures are the total responsibility of the school. Schools are able to refer individual works in excess of the
threshold limits to the Authority as a Capital Bid.
In addition, some works without financial limit will be the responsibility of schools,
e.g. internal and external decoration, all glazing repairs, swimming pools, and all floor finishes. Further information will be made available to schools on
this division of liability.
The Authority recognises that some schools might not wish to take on direct premises management and might elect to enter into a 'pooling' arrangement
in collaboration with other schools (see 'Pooled Schemes' below). This would not, however, form any part of the delegation scheme and it must be
stressed that each governing body retains separate responsibility for ensuring adequate premises maintenance and repair of its premises from its
delegated budget share.
Arrangements for managing delegated R&M funding

All schools should give consideration to their local arrangements and obtain advice about ongoing professional technical support. Where appropriate,
schools are advised to engage consultants to advise on and possibly to manage all or part of their building maintenance expenditure.
'Pooled' Schemes
Where governing bodies elect to collaborate with others in a 'pooling' arrangement for the management of their structural R&M budget, the Authority
advises that agreed mechanisms should be established at the outset for the management of such a scheme and for any pre-planned (programmed)
works.
The pooling could be based on set contributions from each participating school for responsive maintenance and ongoing service contracts, but separate
commissions from individual schools might also need to be initiated (outside of the pooling arrangement) for some pre-planned work. Schools choosing
to enter into a pooling arrangement would probably find it necessary to establish a Steering Group or Management Committee to work in conjunction with
the Authority’s consultants, or other contractor in order to oversee the general operation of the pool, give directions about practices and procedures to be
adopted and agree payment and monitoring arrangements. Authority officer involvement would probably need to be agreed also, as 'arbiter' or 'honest
broker' to the scheme.
Scheme for Financing Schools
Version 1.0 (April 2019)

Page 105

The general delegation of the structural R&M revenue budget involves a substantial shift of responsibility for the upkeep of schools to Headteachers and
Governors. It necessitates schools needing, in many cases as direct clients for the first time, to seek professional advice and guidance in order to
discharge their duties and responsibilities.

